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Welcome

This past year has been a year like no other. The devastating impact of the coronavirus
pandemic is still requiring our undivided attention and effort. We wanted to start this year’s
annual report with recognition of the enormous effort by our staff to support our system’s
response to the pandemic. But we also must acknowledge the devastation that these past
12 months have brought to many thousands of colleagues, local people and communities.
Our thoughts remain with everyone who’s lost a loved one, friend or colleague.
Our concern and thoughts remain too with those who have been affected in other ways.
Many have experienced job loss and financial hardship and now face an uncertain future. A
great number of people have struggled in maintaining good mental health, with loneliness
and isolation having a major adverse effect on their wellbeing. Many parents have struggled
on a practical level in coping with school closures, and the unacceptable level of health
inequalities in our communities has been starkly highlighted.
The pandemic has negatively affected us all in some way and undoubtedly the last twelve
months has been a year of adversity. Yet, throughout this time the NHS and its brilliant staff
have shone brightly in supporting people’s physical and mental wellbeing. We proudly thank
every staff member for their hard work and effort. It’s often been said in the past that the
NHS is bureaucratic and too slow to change – a view we believe can no longer be justifiably
held. Consider, for example, the quick and nimble adoption of new working practices, such
as the speedy introduction of video and telephone appointments by our GP practices, so that
people could still access health care services. Across the NHS we have seen tremendous
examples of innovation that have ensured the NHS has been there to help people when they
need it.
Towards the end of 2020, some hope returned to our lives with the instigation of the national
vaccination programme. The vaccine rollout has been a huge success and has been well
supported with our own highly commended local vaccination website
(www.sneevaccine.org.uk) and telephone helpline so that people have been able to access
trusted information and advice at any time. It is certainly pleasing that our local area
continues to be among the top performing areas in the country for the speed and reach of its
vaccine programme. This level of success could not have been achieved without the
incredible display of community spirit from the army of volunteers who have been integral to
the smooth running of vaccination clinics – from performing car park marshalling duties to
administering the vaccine, their roles are many and varied, and every individual volunteer
deserves a huge debt of thanks for their selfless contribution – thank you.
It’s also important we highlight too just how fantastically well local health and care, voluntary,
community and public sector organisations have worked together over the last year and
remained wholly focused on supporting people’s lives. The benefits of partnership working
have never been so clearly evident as during this pandemic, and this bodes well for the
proposed national development of integrated care systems which will result in much closer
working between our CCG, the wider NHS and public sector partners in the near future.
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While the financial year 2020/21 has been principally concerned about COVID-19 it is
pertinent to highlight the much good work that is happening to keep the wider services
operating as smoothly as practicably possible, and it is important we highlight some of this
work, including:
More young adults in Suffolk are able to seek help from Kooth after the free online
counselling and emotional wellbeing support service was extended. Kooth was launched
with the aim of providing support to young people aged between 11 and 18-years-old. Due
to its reach and success it was extended to all young adults up to the age of 25. Kooth
provides young people with safe and secure access to support with their emotional health
and wellbeing needs from a professional team of qualified counsellors.
A new grant fund worth £300,000 was launched by IESCCG in partnership with WSCCG
and the Suffolk Community Foundation, to support people’s mental wellbeing. Called Equity
in Mind the programme will enable local organisations to bid for funding to provide
community-based interventions with a focus on addressing health inequalities and
supporting those from BAME backgrounds, services supporting older people over the age of
65 years and our population with a severe mental illness.
The CCG has been working closely with West Suffolk Council to support interventions that
improve the wellbeing of homeless people living in temporary accommodation. £30,000 was
awarded to deliver personalised healthcare to those tenants with additional health needs.
LifeLink, a west Suffolk wellbeing project is reducing demand on NHS services and
helping connect people to social activities. Following an initial pilot in Haverhill, the
LifeLink project was rolled out across the whole of the district in 2020 and is
connecting people with health and wellbeing services, social groups, clubs and new
skills opportunities. It was formed to help people with needs such as anxiety and
loneliness without needing to use GP or NHS services where they were not
appropriate. Since its inception LifeLink has dealt with over 2,200 cases.
We are incredibly proud of Julie Irving, Information Sharing Programme Manager, who
scooped a national award, and was named Information Sharing Champion of the Year by
the National Health and Social Care Strategic Information Governance Network. Julie
received the award in recognition of her successful implementation of My Care record in
Suffolk and north east Essex, and for her innovative ideas for improving health and care
services, through better information governance and IT.
As in previous years, the CCG annual assessment for 2019/20 provides each CCG with a
headline assessment against the indicators in the NHS Oversight Framework. The
categorisation of the headline rating is either Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement or
Inadequate and I am delighted to report that the headline rating for West Suffolk CCG for
2019/2020 was Good. NHS England and NHS Improvement stated this was possible
through an established and stable senior management team. They also cited the CCG
maintained a strong financial position throughout the year which has delivered in line with
plan for 19/20 and worked well collaborating with providers and regional colleagues to
deliver efficiencies and strengthen working arrangements. This is a fantastic achievement
by everyone.
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The year 2020/21 will certainly be remembered as the year of the COVID-19 pandemic. As
we slowly emerge from these challenging times, we can be confident that many lessons
have been learned and we now have even more resilient and robust systems in place to
help us better deal with any future pandemics.
We can never forget the tragedy of the many lives lost but let us hope the truly magnificent
community spirit which has been evident will be a lasting legacy, with kindness, helpfulness
and a willingness to give up our time to help others enduring for a long time to come.
Dr. Christopher Browning, Chair of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Ed Garratt, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction
This section of the Annual Report looks at how our system has performed over the last
financial year. It provides information on the purpose and activities of the CCG, describing the
environment in which the CCG works, its organisational structure, its objectives and strategies
for achieving these in the context of its local population. The issues and risks associated with
achieving these objectives are explained. The section concludes with a short summary of
performance during 2020/21. Due to Covid-19, the detailed performance analysis section is
not mandatory for this year, and the resources usually deployed to produce it have been
redeployed to support NHS efforts.
The CCG has made significant progress towards addressing the health priorities of the local
community, while at the same time keeping spending within budget and meeting most of the
performance targets set out in the NHS Constitution, by the Department of Health and Social
Care.
We have developed a set of clear ambitions and priorities that will ensure a local approach to
our delivery of the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
At the heart of our approach is a determination to work more closely with our health and social
care providers, and our local communities, to improve the quality of the services we
commission.
To achieve our ambitions we have identified six clinical priorities. They are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

to develop clinical leadership
to demonstrate excellence in patient experience and patient engagement
to improve the health and care of older people
to improve access to mental health
to improve health and wellbeing through partnership working, and
to deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement.

During 2020/21 we have engaged with patients and stakeholders, listened to their feedback
and responded to their healthcare needs on many areas of work, but have specifically been
engaging in co-production around planning at a locality level.
This approach is helping us achieve our goal of delivering long-term sustainable health
services that provide comprehensive, high quality care for all.
Our partner organisations across the West Suffolk Alliance are committed to helping us create
an integrated health and care system aimed at keeping our local communities well and
enabling people to live independently with a good quality of life for as long as possible. We
recognise the crucial role GP practices play in preventing ill health and managing people with
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction continued
long-term conditions, which is why we have placed primary care at the very heart of our joint
plan to implement the General Practice Forward View (GPFV) and the NHS Long term plan.
The long term plan builds upon the GPFV and has several key areas.
It increases investment and certainty around funding and looks to reduce workload and
workforce pressure. It also will ensure general practice plays a leading role in every Primary
Care Network (PCN). The PCNs include bigger teams of health professionals working together
in local communities.
During the Covid-19 pandemic, primary care has played a crucial role in changing the model
of healthcare provision within our communities, moving from face to face to virtual provision
and creating a safe, alternative model to managing long term conditions.
During the year, introduction of our Primary Care Networks (PCN) has progressed, with their
governance maturing such that our clinical directors now have a clear leadership role within
our health economy.
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG

The CCG was licensed from April 1, 2013, under provisions enacted in the Health and Social
Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
In west Suffolk, GPs chose to form a CCG that would embrace commissioning from the
acute, mental health and community sector. From the 24 member GP practices, a maximum
of eight GPs may be elected to sit on the CCG’s Governing Body. The Governing Body also
has two lay members for corporate governance and patient and public engagement. It
shares a third lay member with NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
The CCG buys, manages and pays for health services including planned and emergency
hospital care, rehabilitation, most community healthcare, mental health and learning
disability services.
Its constitution sets out the arrangements it has made to ensure it meets its responsibilities
for commissioning high quality health care for the people of west Suffolk. It describes the
governing principles, rules and procedures that will ensure integrity, honesty and
accountability in our day-to-day activities.
It commits the CCG to making decisions in an open and transparent way and places the
interests of patients, carers and public at its heart.
The CCG’s constitution can be downloaded at:
https://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-constitution/
The CCG’s population is registered with west Suffolk’s 24 GP practices and is predominantly
rural, with the population scattered across small towns and villages. The areas covered
include the West Suffolk local authority district and part of the Mid Suffolk and Babergh
districts.
The total GP registered population of West Suffolk CCG in March 2020 was 259,000 1.

1

Patients Registered at a GP Practice - March 2021 - NHS Digital
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
Office for National Statistics data is available for populations living in West Suffolk
CCG. The mid-2019 estimates indicate that the population was 231,706. The same
estimates indicate that people aged 65+ comprise 22.5% of the population, the same
proportion 22.5% are 19 or under2.
Population figures – West Suffolk CCG:
0-19
20-39
40-64
65-79
80+
Total

Males
26,596
28,793
35,806
17,783
6,129
115,107

Females
25,431
26,619
36,428
19,733
8,388
116,599

2018 Population Projection data indicates that between 2021-2041 the population of West
Suffolk CCG will grow by 6.7% 3. By 2041 it is estimated that 28.7% of the population will be
age 65 and over.
The dramatic decline in relative deprivation seen in Suffolk between 2010 and 2015 has not
been repeated, but neither has there been much of a recovery in Suffolk’s relative position in
the 2019 data.
Index of Multiple Deprivation in Suffolk (2010-2019)

2

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/clinicalcom
missioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates
3https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/clinicalco
mmissioninggroupsinenglandtable3
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
The deprivation score for West Suffolk CCG was 16.0 in 2019, a slight improvement from
16.4 in 2015, and below the England value (21.7) 4.
•
•

There are no GP practices in the CCG with a deprivation score higher than the national
average.
West Suffolk is a generally affluent area, with pockets of relative deprivation in Bury St
Edmunds and the towns of Haverhill, Mildenhall, Newmarket and Sudbury. The most
deprived general practice areas include Brandon Medical Practice, Forest Surgery and
Haverhill Family Practice.
Overall, the population of Suffolk is generally healthy with high life expectancy 5.

Suffolk males have a healthy life expectancy of 65.05 years, and Suffolk females have a
healthy life expectancy of 62.93 years. Suffolk males live approximately 80% of their lives in
‘good health’, whereas females live approximately 75% of their lives in ‘good health’. (Data:
2017-19)

4

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomesframework/data#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/302/are/E10000029/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/tbm/1
5
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Performance Overview
CCG Headquarters and Operational Area
Since July 2014 the CCG’s headquarters have been located at West Suffolk House in Bury
St Edmunds, which it shares with colleagues from Suffolk County Council, West Suffolk
Council and the East of England Local Government Association.
West Suffolk House provides flexible, open plan office space along with conference and
meeting rooms, public access areas and a shared staff café (Café West).
Easy access to colleagues from partner organisations improves the effectiveness of joint
working.
We share our management delivery team with colleagues from the neighbouring NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG which is based at Endeavour House in Ipswich where it
shares offices with Suffolk County Council, the Norfolk & Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust,
Babergh District Council and Mid Suffolk District Council, and with North East Essex CCG,
based at Aspen House in Colchester.
The management delivery team provides contracted services to all three CCGs. It is led by a
shared Chief Executive.
During Winter 20/21, the Department of Health and Social Care issued a Policy Paper
entitled Integration and Innovation: Working Together to Improve Health and Social Care for
All. Included within this policy is the formation of a Statutory Integrated Care System (ICS)
for each area which will take over the functions of existing CCGs from the 1 April 2022. The
joint management delivery team which covers the three CCGs in Suffolk and North East
Essex will be working with partners and regulators to understand and implement the
implications of this policy as formal guidance is issued.
The hot desk facilities available at West Suffolk House enable the shared management
delivery team to work from Bury St Edmunds when necessary, thereby making better use of
resources and time. However, during the Covid-19 lock down periods, in line with national
guidance, almost all CCG staff have worked from home.
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Performance Overview
Commissioning Activity

The CCG commissions services from a range of organisations including acute hospital
trusts, GP practices, voluntary organisations and other NHS and non-NHS providers.
The services we commission include:
•

Urgent care services - including ambulance response services, hospital accident
and emergency departments and the NHS111 telephone service

•

Elective care services - for planned operations and interventions

•

Community services – including community nursing and therapy services,
community hospitals and the provision of community equipment

•

Mental health and learning disability services - provided in both in-patient,
community and at-home settings

•

Tailored domiciliary care packages - to enable people to remain at home, and
nursing home care packages

•

Children’s services – specifically aimed at supporting children including those
with individual NHS care packages and those receiving services provided in
association with Suffolk County Council

•

Primary care services – in and out of hours GP Services, and

•

Non-emergency patient transport.

All contracts with providers are closely managed by a dedicated, highly skilled contracting
team to ensure the services provided are high quality and as safe as required by the
contract, whilst providing value for money for the people of Suffolk.
The team has built strong, collaborative partnerships with our providers, giving support, but
also challenging where appropriate. Our aim is to work from a position of trust, respect and
active clinical leadership.
All commissioning decisions are based on clinical best practice and data analysis. Service
providers are required to demonstrate effectiveness through care outcomes and feedback
from patient experience to ensure value for money. The CCG’s ‘Commissioning Intentions’
for 2021/22 are available to view here.
The CCGs have regularly consulted both the Suffolk and Essex Health and Wellbeing
Boards. All major service strategies have been taken to them for debate and support, such
as our Special Educational Needs and Disabilities strategies and the Covid-19 Vaccination
programmes. The CCGs’ transformation plans are informed and guided by the Health and
Wellbeing strategies for each county.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives
This section of our annual report sets out the way in which our CCG, working with our partners
across the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System, is developing strategies for
achieving the objectives of both the CCG and the local Alliance. During the 2020-21 financial year,
much of our work was initially concentrated on our response to the Covid-19 pandemic whilst
maintaining usual health and care provision wherever possible, more recently we have moved into
planning for recovery and restoration of services.
One of our main strategies is the development and strengthening of our local alliance. This report
starts with a summary of alliance led developments, followed by areas where we are working with
our partners across the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System.
WEST SUFFOLK ALLIANCE
The West Suffolk Alliance led the System Escalation response to Covid-19 with the governance
model adapted to accommodate the need for daily operational oversight.
Daily escalation calls were put in place for health and care providers and bi-weekly meetings for all
system partners including: Police, Fire, Leisure, District Councils and VCSE.
System outputs included: Creation of hot and cold sites in community settings and primary care,
modification of estate to cater for these changes, oversight of PPE levels, establishment of Covid-19
visiting car, roving certification of death team, creation of designated Covid-19 care setting, and
furloughed staff to support front line community teams.
Weekly clinical cells were put in place for decision making and oversight of risk. Outputs included:
Virtual consulting introduced for 100% of practices, improved access to End of Life drugs working
with community pharmacies, and additional mental health join up.
An enhanced offer by the Integrated Neighbourhood Teams provides a 24/7 model of wraparound
support to people who would otherwise require admission into an acute hospital or a Community
Assessment Bed. The principles are similar a to virtual ward but with a focus on proactive and
intensive management of people from a step-up community perspective.
Health, Adult and Community Service and the voluntary sector have worked with the multi-agency
‘Home But Not Alone’ service, which was set up to help vulnerable people in the community.
Vertical Integration partnership between the West Suffolk Foundation Trust, West Suffolk Council,
and Abbeycroft Leisure using community assets, workforce and skills to deliver activity programmes
and support into patient pathways to improve health and well-being for those with long term health
conditions.
The Early Supported Discharge service is a service for stroke patients in the West Suffolk
Alliance providing intensive support for people from hospital to community to help them recover from
the effects of their stroke, in place from the 1st April 2021.
Covid-19 Vaccination Programme involved all alliance partners working together to support the
delivery supporting innovations such as: Drive through model to administer vaccines at the Primary
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Care Network site in Woolpit; and working with Gatehouse charity to ensure our homeless population
received their jabs in an appropriate setting.
The West Suffolk Alliance was enhanced during the year through the appointment of an
Independent Chair to chair the System Executive Group, and widening the partnership to include
Suffolk Constabulary and West Suffolk College.
Our One Clinical Community/One Team leadership programme of integration launches for its
second year in May 2021
Additional investment has been made in the West Suffolk Population Health Management team
with PCN pilots reinstated and being utilised to underpin recovery.
The West Suffolk Alliance is now shifting focus from dealing with the pandemic into recovery of
services, whilst taking into account the learning and impact of the pandemic on communities and the
wider workforce.
Structural Issues at West Suffolk Hospital
The CCG has been working closely with partners at West Suffolk Hospital to mitigate the risks
associated with Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) planks used in the original
construction of the hospital. A number of actions have taken place during the year:
• West Suffolk and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCGs established a Risk Committee to oversee
risk of potential plank failure
• Independent evaluation of current mitigation and options for re-provision of services
commissioned
• Surveyed 100% of wall planks and accessible roof planks (5% not accessible due to plant)
• Mitigations have been put in place and include: enhanced roof planks, emergency escalation
procedures, comprehensive database of surveyed planks, and a rolling survey and
assessment programme
• Failsafe roof support programme has been agreed. Work will be done in phases to minimise
disruption but will impact on capacity within the organisation
• Operational impact of all changes will be continuously monitored
• West Suffolk estates team has been praised for leading the way nationally on RAAC issues
Future Systems
The West Suffolk alliance is working together to develop a model for future service delivery which
includes the redevelopment of West Suffolk Hospital. A system partnership Board is now in place to
oversee the future system programme with strong representation from all stakeholders. There have
been a number of developments during the year
• Hardwick Manor has been purchased and identified as a potential site for the development
• Partnership with Healthwatch has been established to support commitment to coproduce the
programme
• Strategic Outline Case completed
• Clinical co-production leads now in post and leading the pathway modelling to inform the next
stage of the process
• Provider collaboration is being pursued at both ‘place’ level and ‘system’ level
• Co-production community engagement group established
• Ambitious programme of workshops underway to build the community model integrated with
internal hospital pathways.
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COVID-19 VACCINATION PROGRAMME
Introduction
As of 9 April 2021, the UK had recorded 4.37m cases of people infected with Covid-19. Tragically,
127k people in the UK have died within 28 days of being diagnosed with the disease. As noted in
the UK Government’s COVID-19 Vaccines Delivery Plan 6, vaccines are our best way out of the
pandemic and a move towards a more normal way of life.
The UK Government’s delivery plan sets out its strategy and targets. It is built around the vaccine
priority groups defined by the Joint Committee for Vaccination and Immunisation 7 (JCVI). The JCVI
estimate that taken together, priority groups 1 – 98 represent circ. 99% of preventable mortality from
Covid-19.
The plan has three phases, with the government committing to:
• Offer the vaccine to the top four priority groups, around 15m people in the UK, by midFebruary. This was achieved.
• Offer the vaccine to the remaining priority groups, around 17m people in the UK, by mid-April.
This was achieved.
• Offer the vaccine to all remaining adults in the UK by the end of July. Sustainment of
progress to-date indicates this target is likely to be achieved.
Within Suffolk and North East Essex (SNEE), 868k people are eligible to receive the vaccine; 218k
are within catchment of the WS CCG. If there were 100% take up, this would equate to a total of
1.7m vaccines being administered (1st and 2nd doses) in SNEE, 436k of which being in West Suffolk
(WS).
As of week ending March 25, 91.9% of people in the cohorts 1 – 9 within Suffolk and North East
Essex had received their first dose of vaccine - rating the ICS as best in the country alongside
Coventry and Warwickshire ICS and Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin ICS.
Our Plan
Roll out of the Covid-19 vaccine is a national programme, led by NHS England and respective
devolved administrations in Wales, Scotland and Northern Island. We (SNEE) work closely with
regional colleagues at NHS East of England (EOE) to deliver our programme. Our plan aligns to the
UK Government’s delivery plan and is based around 4 critical success factors: supply, prioritisation,
places, and people.
Our success to-date is in large part testament to building upon the strengths of our Integrated Care
System – specifically strong partnerships with statutory bodies; the voluntary, community and social
enterprise sector, community leaders; and the public.

UK COVID-19 Vaccines Delivery Plan, Department of Heath & Social Care; published 11 January 2021.
Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation: advice on priority groups for COVID-19 vaccination, 30 December
2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
8
JVCI priority group 1 – 9 includes those aged 45 or over, the clinical extremely vulnerable, the clinically vulnerable,
those with a learning disability, health and social care workers, and unpaid carers.
6
7

17. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Vaccine Supply
Critical to the success of the programme is stable and predictable supply of vaccine and other key
products (such as personal protective equipment, syringes, etc). Vaccine9 is allocated to SNEE by
the national programme team – a key consideration being the size of the population remaining to be
vaccinated and availability of supply nationally.
Prioritisation
In December 2020, the JCVI advised the UK government that the priority for the current Covid-19
vaccination programme should be the prevention of Covid-19 mortality and the protection of health
and social care staff and systems. All systems in England, including SNEE, have developed delivery
plans aligned to the prioritised cohorts and nationally agreed timeline.
Places
Aligned to the national delivery framework, a network of vaccination sites has been designed to fit
the expected vaccine supply and ensure safe and easy access for the whole population. There are
three main types of vaccination site:
• Vaccination centres, using large-scale venues, such as football stadiums and accessed by a
national booking service;
• Hospital hubs, using NHS Trusts; and
• Local vaccination services, made up of sites led by general practice teams working together
in already established primary care networks and pharmacy teams through community
pharmacies
As an ICS, we pride ourselves on being innovative and are proud to have introduced mobile ‘pop up’
sites; to have trialled a drive through model at Woolpit, West Suffolk; and to have introduced a
vaccination bus.

9

The Pfizer/BioNTech and the Oxford/AstraZeneca vaccines are currently administered within SNEE.
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People
At the heart of our programme is our workforce. As well as current NHS staff, we have drawn on the
skills of those who have volunteered through the NHS Bring Back Scheme, those currently working
outside of the NHS (e.g. St John’s Ambulance) and when required, armed forces personnel. As well
as trained vaccinators, our workforce includes a range of non-clinical support staff (e.g. logistics
management, stewards and first aiders). We have been overwhelmed and humbled by the support
of Alliance partners including the VCSE sector, community groups, and the public. Our system’s
success is testament to our collaborative One Team ethos.
We recognise the programme is a marathon rather than a sprint. As such, we continue to
collaborate with staff groups and Trade Unions to ensure the welfare and wellbeing of all staff is
protected and supported. Examples of initiatives include workshops and learning opportunities being
offered by the East of England Leadership Academy (e.g. workshops such as Managing Stress and
Anxiety Through the COVID Crisis).
Promoting inclusion & Reducing Health Inequalities in Covid-19 Vaccinations
A detailed system learning report from the initial stages of the pandemic in SNEE looked in detail at
how Covid-19 had further amplified the many existing inequalities in our communities. We have
used this research to coproduce with affected community groups / representatives a shared
understanding of need and a broad suite of resources to provide tailored vaccination services. Our
plan seeks to address the needs of the few, as well as the many and focusses on 5 key areas.
•
•

•
•

•

Adaptations to promote equality of access across all vaccination sites. An example initiative
includes an equalities checklist (inc. reasonable adaptations) which has been introduced as
part of the quality assurance framework for vaccination centres.
We engage and communicate with the public in a responsive way as the programme moves
forward. For example, in order to facilitate the public and all those supporting people from
diverse backgrounds to access their vaccinations, trusted websites have been introduced
(e.g. www.sneevaccine.org.uk) as well as a patient helpline to assist with answering
questions about the booking process (0344 2257 3961).
Broadening access to vaccinations. There are a range of initiatives we have introduced to
ensure our services are accessible to all. These include mobile delivery of vaccination by
GPs to those who are housebound or in care homes; and
Operating specialist clinics featuring a range of adaptions to meet need (e.g. ‘quiet clinics’ for
patients with learning disabilities, and specific sessions in vaccination centres for ethnic
minority groups).
Using data to inform our approach and identify emerging inequalities. The use of dashboards
and data modelling technics enables the programme to monitor both the cohort and specific
patient group take up of the vaccine (inc. by ethnicity). Active review enables the programme
to be agile and responsive, targeting its approach to the communities with greatest need.
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Patient and Public Engagement
Building upon existing patient and public engagement mechanisms within the ICS (particularly our
partnership with Healthwatch Suffolk and Healthwatch Essex), the programme has developed a patient
engagement survey to understand what’s working and how we can continue to improve our services.
As at 5th March, 2,616 surveys had been completed; 537 from members of the public within WS. The
survey asks about the end-to-end experience from receipt of an invitation to book an appointment
through to aftercare. Feedback has been overwhelmingly positive and the Programme continuously
adapts services to meet patient need; communicating the action we’ve taken. The patient and public
involvement section of this report goes on to describe further local surveys undertaken and the actions
taken as a result. One area where initially feedback suggested improvement was required was in
waiting times for appointments, however over time this has improved.

QUALITY
The CCG’s role in quality surveillance and improvement has continued throughout the year, and is
being increasingly managed across the Integrated Care System of Suffolk and North East Essex.
Some of the significant developments which have taken place during the year are highlighted below.
Supporting Special Measures Trusts.
We continue to work closely with our two providers in special measures - EEAST and NSFT
alongside the national and regional NHSEI teams. Both Trusts have improved in some areas of
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performance and quality but require ongoing support and challenge to ensure the performance,
quality and cultural issues present in both organisations continue to improve and are sustained.
As CCGs we oversee NSFT’s improvement plans through our quality and performance contract
meetings with a monthly Exec to Exec meeting between NSFT and CCG for any unresolved issues.
We jointly have an oversight and assurance group meeting with NHSEI and external stakeholders
where ongoing concerns are discussed and NSFT’s improvement plan is monitored.
NSFT has made improvements to their inpatient facilities for people with learning disabilities and has
seen a significant reduction in inpatient admissions for people with learning disabilities due to
improved working in the community and with social care. The acute inpatient units have also seen an
improvement in the quality of care delivered, particularly in Lark ward, the psychiatric intensive care
unit. NSFT are partners in the #verydifferentconversation and are working with us to improve the
models of care delivered to children and young people, community model, crisis services and
learning disability services.
We continue to monitor closely the quality of the children and young people’s mental health services
particularly relating to access by data, quality visits and patient/service user feedback. We expect to
see improving performance over the coming year.
EEAST was issued with notices following a CQC inspection in June 2020 and was subsequently
placed into Special Measures for quality concerns in October 2020. In response the Trust has now
appointed a Director of Nursing with specific responsibility for clinical quality and improvement. The
Trusts Quality Improvement Plan put in place to address the CQC notices includes 124 specific
actions together with a ten-point plan produced and coordinated by NHS England and NHS
Improvement monitored through monthly quality and performance meetings. We jointly have an
oversight and assurance group meeting with NHSEI and external stakeholders where ongoing
concerns are discussed and the improvement plan is monitored.

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs are key partners in both Suffolk and Essex SEND oversight. In
Essex, through the newly formed SEND partnership board we have supported an improved
governance system and established the joint commissioning framework which is leading on the
review of services that Ofsted/CQC found to require further development. In Suffolk, we continue to
work in partnership with Suffolk County Council, developing integrated roles and focusing on
improving children and young people’s mental health provision, neurodevelopmental pathway
changes and therapy provision.
Maternity
Improvements have been recognised in West Suffolk Foundation Trust (WSFT) maternity services
through the appointment of new leadership triumvirate and greater focus and oversight at Executive
level. Joint quality assurance visits with NHS England and Improvement feed into Local Maternity
and Neonatal System Board (LMNSB) and regional quality maternity board where progress is
monitored. East Suffolk and North Essex Foundation Trust (ESNEFT) has some significant
improvements to make in maternity services across both sites to ensure delivery of maternity
transformation agenda and Ockenden action plan. We have implemented the ‘saving babies lives’
bundle across the LMNSB and are developing the quality assurance and oversight function of
LMNSB within the new perinatal surveillance framework.
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ICS quality surveillance
We have established our SNEE Quality Surveillance Group with stakeholder and provider
representation and it is emerging as a robust environment to understand and resolve system quality
issues. We will commence the transition to an ICS wide Quality Board and are developing a steering
group to implement the new governance structures as guidance emerges.
PROVIDER COLLABORATIVE REVIEW
A key part of our strategy is to take the opportunity to reflect and learn from our experiences. In
autumn 2020 Suffolk and North East Essex was one of eight Integrated Care Systems selected by
the CQC to participate in a Provider Collaborative Review, looking at how health and social care
have worked together since the start of the pandemic across urgent and emergency care.
The aim of the review was to help providers learn from each other’s experience following response to
the coronavirus pandemic; supporting learning and improvement, highlighting innovation and
creativity.
The review explored the following areas: keeping people safe, supporting people’s mental health
needs, public messaging tackling inequalities, effective governance, keeping staff safe, good use of
technology, supporting children and young people and capturing system learning.
Over two weeks in October the CQC carried out over twenty four interviews and workshops across
our ICS with a range of staff and partners; reviewed data; and sought views from Healthwatch Essex
and Suffolk.
The CQC shared initial feedback with our system. Overall the report was overwhelmingly positive
and a testament to everyone’s hard work, collaboration and integrated working throughout the
pandemic. The final report includes multiple examples of what has gone well and areas for future
focus.
“Without exception, all system partners had a mutual respect for each others part in the system and
worked as a collaborative to ensure patients could receive health and care in the right place, at the
right time.”
“System partners had clearly used COVID as an opportunity to bring forward plans to innovate and
change services for the good of the public.”
The CQC has published a short report of the key findings Collaboration in urgent and emergency
care | Care Quality Commission (cqc.org.uk) The report references several SNEE initiatives, and
acknowledged the report which captured our system learning from the first wave response and
explored what might come next, stating; “We heard it was used as an exemplar for system learning.”
The full findings from the reviews will be published in Spring 2021.
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WORKFORCE
Our workforce is key to delivery of our strategic aims. During 2020-21 we have continued to develop
our local workforce strategies whilst supporting the wider needs of the Covid-19 pandemic. 2020-21
saw the launch of the NHS ‘We Are The NHS: People Plan for 2020/21 - action for us all’ 10 which we
were actively involved with in Suffolk and North East Essex.
‘Can Do’ People plan
Our ‘Can Do’ People Plan was developed and submitted during the year. The ‘Can Do’ People Plan
has been widely socialised across the ICS involving system leaders to support the implementation of
the delivery plan.
Key achievements:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

System ‘People Board’ established and in place
Finalised the Mutual Aid Agreement (MAA) across the system with Social Partnership Forum
signoff, this has been used effectively to support the vaccination programme since December
2020.
System wide apprenticeship strategy refined, endorsed and agreed.
System wide health and wellbeing initiatives consolidated and shared across the system, joint
Health & Wellbeing local board being developed
Developed system equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) group supported by Human Resources
Director network.
Successfully development of SNEE Health and Care Academy – careers website under
development ‘We Can Do Together’. This will focus on supply, retaining current and attracting
future workforce.
Development and implementation of two Mental Health and Wellbeing Hubs (Suffolk and Essex).
Selected by National team to deliver the Enhanced Occupational Health and Wellbeing hub –
two systems working together will support both the regional and national teams to develop
system-wide approaches to creating a wellness culture for our people.

Supporting the regional and national workforce agenda
•
•
•

•
•
•

10

Supported the region to promote the wellbeing support offers as part of the Health & Wellbeing
Collaborative.
National learning on Equality and Diversity shared with Local People Board and actions agreed
Successfully recruited Health Care Support Workers (HCSW) at system level supporting the
regional HCSW recruitment drive. This initiative is linked to growing our workforce and
supporting the implementation of the SNEE apprenticeship strategy. Agreed to work at a
system level with the Care sector to develop career pathways across health and care.
Working in a number of areas to increase the numbers of nurses: extending the Nursing
Associates roles, return to practice, retention and international recruitment, working closely with
Health Education England.
Participating with the COVID-19 digital staff passport which will support the effective
implementation of the MAA for staff to work across organisations.
Vaccination programme – recent focused work on dealing with health inequalities, adapted
vaccination centres to meet the local needs. Learning shared with the region.

NHS England » We are the NHS: People Plan for 2020/2021 – action for us all
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INTRODUCTION OF NEW SERVICES
A number of new services have been developed during the year, some in response to the pandemic.
The following section provides some of the highlights of those developments across Suffolk and
North East Essex.
Think 111 First
•
•

Commenced 1 December 2020
Over 1,500 patients using the service had directly booked appointment in ED helping to manage
arrivals to this service and improve patient experience

Admission avoidance/managing emergency demand schemes
•
•
•

Developments were put in place during the year to provide GP and consultant support to
paramedics and care
Early data demonstrates significant reduction in the numbers of patients conveyed to hospital by
the ambulance service
Increased access to secondary care consultants for GPs requiring advice

Marginalised Vulnerable Adults (MVA)
•

Additional resources provided to fill gaps in the support available that appeared due to COVID
restrictions, for example closure of outreach cafes, volunteer centres and stopping of group
support sessions, and reduced ED and Primary Care access. This investment has been
extended for 2021/22 contract year.

First Response Service (Mental Health Crisis)
•
•

Crisis telephone line provided by Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation NHS Trust offers emergency and
urgent help for all ages 24 hours a day seven days a week. Health professionals are also able to
call this number for specialist advice.
Launched in April 2020, the daily average number of calls (Trust wide in NSFT) is currently 180.

Other Developments in west Suffolk
•
•
•

Early Supported Discharge Stroke service is working with the VCSE on providing a wrap around
reablement support offer to the whole family
Abbeycroft Leisure is working with consultants from WSFT to tailor health and wellbeing
programmes for individual specialties and exercise on referral.
Continuation and expansion of work with the VCSE in mental health through the Kooth and Night
Owls services.

DIGITAL AGENDA

Part of our strategy is to maximise the use of digital technologies to improve patient access
to healthcare and their overall experience. Suffolk and North East Essex ICS hosts the
East Accord, a collaborative network and Programme Management Office that supports East
of England Shared Care Records and Joined Up Care digital programmes. The digital team
was diverted to the Covid-19 response and formed the East COVID Digital Cell with partners
across the East of England. Some examples of the achievements during 2020-21 are given
below:

24. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

•

Mobilised Video Consultation across all services, General Practice, Acute services, Mental
Health, Community services and hospices

•

Large numbers of laptops, tablet devices & home working capabilities have been set up to
support people working from home & to increase capacity

•

Care Homes have been provided with tablet devices, training & support

•

Many examples of innovation including:
• Robotic Process Automation scheduled 20,000 staff for antigen tests in 5 weeks
• Virtual Desktop Infrastructure to enable secure access from a personal device
• Two million health records were connected across and beyond Suffolk and Essex

•

Remote Care for the Most Vulnerable programme was initiated in October through
implementation of:
• COVID Virtual Ward
• Pulse Oximetry @ Home
• Virtual Care for long term conditions
• eObservation tools in care homes connected to GPs, community and secondary care
teams.

•

In March 21 we developed the Strategic Case for the East of England ‘Sharing of Shared Care
Records’ which will be progressed during 2021-22

•

Developed the One Workforce Insight tool to support Covid-19 Vaccination Workforce
Management.

CCG COMMUNICATIONS
The covid-19 pandemic has increased the need for effective communication with our patients and
partners on a scale not previously experienced. The section below sets out some of the ways in
which CCG communications have worked during 2020-21.
•
•

•

•
•

Established the system’s vaccination service website (www.sneevaccine.org.uk). A one stop
shop providing local and national information about the vaccination roll out.
Supported national messages and campaigns. For example, these include reducing vaccine
hesitancy, attending vaccination appointments when called, the rule of six and the
appointments process.
Facilitated many media opportunities with the local and regional media to show the SNEE
system delivering the vaccine and the opening of new vaccination sites. This also highlighted
people’s experiences of being vaccinated and included adaptions the system is making to
support people needing support – for example, individuals and their carers living with learning
disabilities.
Held monthly councillor briefings – these virtual ‘live teams events’ have been county-wide
and aimed at parish, district/borough and county councillors.
Held regular community events for the public. These virtual county-wide public events are
aimed at all communities, in particular seldom heard community groups. A panel of experts
from SNEE and colleagues from the Norfolk and Waveney system gave information about
vaccination roll-out and answered questions. During one event, we had over 600 attendees.
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•

•
•
•

•

In conjunction with Ipswich and Suffolk Council for Racial Equality and Community 360, the
system produced video translations of key messages fronted by local community leaders and
trusted communicators. These were shared with local communities across SNEE.
Posters produced and circulated, supported with social media graphics, about the ‘dos and
don’ts’ when attending a vaccination centre.
A diary was produced in July 2020 which highlighted the first three months of the system’s
response to the pandemic.
Acknowledged the national day of reflection with a special edition of the ICS briefing. This
highlighted new ways of working brought about as a result of the pandemic as well as future
plans for recovery.
Supported the ICS programme of ‘Thinking Differently Together’ events.
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RESTORATION AND RECOVERY
One of the main elements of our strategy as we leave 20/21 is the restoration and recovery of
services. The following sections focus on the work which has continued during 20/21 and how this
will be enhanced to enable recovery.
Cancer
•
•
•

•
•

•

Suffolk and North East Essex wide cancer operational group has been working with the East
of England Cancer Alliance to deliver the 10 priority actions from the Phase 3 recovery plan
Two week wait referral numbers are now surpassing pre Covid-19 levels across Suffolk and
North East Essex.
Diagnostic capacity planning and delivery continues particularly for endoscopy, during the
year we saw the introduction of the Rapid Diagnostic Service (RDS) which went live in Feb
2021
Additional CT capacity created through new scanner at Ramsay Oaks (Independent Sector
provider) to support ESNEFT and the RDS
A range of cancer innovations have been invested in during the year – Colon Capsule
Endoscopy, Cytosponge, Early CDT Lung Checks and ‘C the Signs’ clinical decision support
tool
We have also worked with Macmillan Cancer Support and have invested in Cancer support
Navigators across the ICS. These posts support patients as they move from acute care into
the community and are a key enabler of personalised care.

Urgent and Emergency Care
•

•

•
•

During the year there has been a focus on admissions avoidance work across our area which
is supporting patient flow – this includes new schemes to reduce the number of patients who
are taken by ambulance to hospital
Discharge to Assess embedded and discharge hubs in place at all three acute sites enabling
improved patient flow with particularly low levels of Delayed Transfers of Care and stranded
patients at ESNEFT – which is the lowest in the region
Virtual wards setup in each of our three placed based alliances linked to our discharge to
assess programmes
Think 111 First Programme implemented and now in review

Elective and Diagnostics
•
•
•
•

Suffolk and North East Essex Elective Care Board in place and running for six months
Elective recovery plan in place, previously achieved 90-100% of the targets in 2020 for
recovery. Plan refreshed for 21-22 aiming to exceed 90% of 19-20 baselines by July 21
Strong working relationship in place with our three local independent sector providers
providing additional capacity
Outpatient demand management programmes in place, including virtual outpatient provision
and greater use of patient initiated follow up.
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Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Mental Health Investment Standard expenditure levels achieved by all three CCGs and 21-22
indicative plans developed
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service fully resumed via digital access
and planning meet 25% access by end of March 21 in Suffolk and North East Essex.
Crisis helplines mobilised across the area, working towards 111 integration in 21-22
Community Mental Health models agreed and recruitment commencing on key roles
Our mental health providers continue to review all caseloads and prioritising where needed
Mental Health services are working closely with primary care to continue to reinstate Learning
Disability health checks and Serious Mental health (SMI) checks
Additional support for NHS staff in place available with telephone and email support. The ICS
has partnered with Suffolk and North East Essex MIND services to boost support
mechanisms
Regular system meetings in place to review out of area placements and ensure timely
repatriation

Primary Care
•
•
•
•
•

Childhood immunisations have not been widely impacted during Covid-19 and any backlog is
minimal
Cervical screening services – although initially suspended last year, this service is now back
up to speed with additional targeted work
Structured medication reviews are embedded through the Primary Care Networks
Primary Care Networks have the social prescriber model in place, but this is still embedding
in order to be fully effective
Continuing to utilise virtual consultations where possible across all practices

Community Care
•
•
•
•
•

Long COVID Assessment Service up and running across the ICS
Seven day working in place for community services
Two hour crisis response in place with further investment planned
Additional community hospital and nursing home bed capacity in place across the ICS
providing much needed additional capacity
Worked closely with our partners in each of our CCG areas to enhance End of Life and
Virtual Ward services as a key part of our Covid-19 response.

IMPROVING EQUALITY OF ACCESS TO SERVICES
We have recognised for some time that inequalities occur in both the provision of health and care
services to and access to those services by our population, leading to inequalities of outcome
particularly differences in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy. One of our Integrated Care
System higher ambitions is to enable health equality for everyone.
Covid-19 shone a harsh light on some of the health and wider inequalities which existed in our
society. As an ICS we drew together the System Learning from Covid-19, the first point being that it
had further amplified the many existing inequalities in our communities and acknowledged amongst
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other things that we need the right data and intelligence to deliver better together, enabling us to plan
for both the many and the few.
The divide between the well paid and highest educated, and the lower paid and less well educated
has been further exposed, and the long-term impact of the pandemic upon the local economy
remains unknown. Younger workers have borne the brunt of the consequent reduction in
employment. The crisis has had a disproportionate impact on ethnic minority communities, who have
experienced higher infection and mortality rates than the white population. The reasons for this are
multi-factorial and not fully understood, but there is overwhelming evidence that existing socioeconomic inequalities and co-morbidities such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes played a key
role. Digital solutions have been put in place at pace and helped to overcome many of the challenges
faced by people during Covid-19; however digital exclusion has created additional barriers to access.
Research shows that this is not purely a generational issue, with significant barriers created for those
with some disabilities, those in rural areas with poor internet connectivity as well as those living in
deprivation. Digital exclusion has been a reality during Covid-19 for 22% of the UK’s population who
lack basic digital skills, with the likelihood of having access to the internet from home increasing
along with income, such that only 51% of households earning between £6,000 -10,000 had internet
access compared with 99% of households with an income of over £40,000 11. The link between
poverty and digital exclusion is clear: if you are poor, you have less chance of being online.
As an ICS we dedicated one of our ‘Thinking Differently Together about’ events to turning the curve
on racism and inequality in health and care. Building on the findings of this event, we used the
funding donated by members of the public to NHS Charities Together to make a difference to those
communities that we know have been hardest hit by the Covid19 pandemic – those from BAME and
deprived communities. We have also recently launched our ICS inequalities film competition looking
at ‘How will we Heal?’
As we move forward into 2021-22, one of the strategies to achieve our higher ambition is to use the
insights gained through Population Health Management and the new Waiting List Minimum Data Set
to identify areas for enhanced investment and developing personalised care, and monitor its impact.
Areas of focus will include:
•
•
•

Acute waiting list review – looking at waiting lists split by ethnicity and deprivation to check for
and act on any correlation to longer waiting times
Mapping deprivation against provision of community mental health services
Covid-19 vaccinations – continuing to put in place interventions to increase the uptake across
all ethnic groupings. Examples include vaccination bus, operation of specialist clinics and
targeted communications. The use of dashboards and data modelling technics enables the
programme to monitor cohort and specific patient group take up of the vaccine (inc. by
ethnicity). Active review enables the programme to be agile and responsive, targeting its
approach to the communities with greatest need.

SUSTAINABILITY
Leadership
It is essential that along with all other health and public sector partner organisations we embrace
sustainability and place it at the heart of every decision and action we take. We recognise that
tackling climate change will reduce pressure on front line services and is linked to reducing poverty,
pollution and health inequality. Actives that tackle climate change will, deliver health benefits to our
communities.
As a CCG we are placing a concerted focus on minimising our carbon footprint and have been
developing a positive culture that embraces sustainable development. To drive this forward the
11

The Digital Divide: what does the research tell us? | Cambridge Centre for Housing & Planning Research
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Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure is the lead Director on Sustainability for the
organisation. During 2019/20 we appointed a Sustainability Officer to support this important
agenda and a Sustainability Steering Group has been established.
The three CCGs across Suffolk and North East Essex link in with relevant public sector partners. We
are a member of the Essex Carbon Innovation Network and work with our partners in Essex Climate
Action Commission. We are also a member of the the Suffolk Climate Change, Environment and
Energy Board. Working with our public sector partners will ensure we approach and address issues
in a holistic and strategic way to deliver an integrated approach for the communities we serve.
Green Action Plan
Working with our Regional Sustainability Group and Greener NHS, we have developed a Green
Action Plan. The first step of our plan is gathering data to help identify, target and monitor the key
areas and tasks that need to be undertaken in order to develop our wider Sustainability Strategy. We
are focusing on several key areas including travel and transport, facilities and estates, waste and
resource use, medicines and equipment, commissioning and procurement, digital and our people
and partners. A key element of our activity in 2021-22 will be to gather information whilst we build on
some the best practice projects that we successfully completed in 2020-21.
Net Zero Carbon
The NHS is responsible for 4-5% of UK carbon emissions and has committed to become carbon
neutral by 2040. Our activities in 2020-21 have started to contribute towards this vision.
Facilities and Estates
SNEE shares its offices at Endeavour House with Suffolk County Council. The building has several
energy efficient features including photovoltaic cells and rainwater recycling systems. As tenants at
Endeavour House and West Suffolk House we benefit from renewable energy supplies and new LED
lighting that has been installed to reduce electricity consumption. Our offices at Aspen House have
been converted to LED lighting and we have installed our first Electric Vehicle (ELV) charging point.
Travel and Transport
2020-21 has been an unusual year due to the Covid-19 pandemic with most staff working from
home. Our business and commuting mileage (and therefore vehicle emissions) have subsequently
dropped significantly. The Sustainability Steering Group is actively focusing on how we can blend
new home working practices together with an active travel and transport strategy that embraces
digital technology, reduces car travel, and supports staff wellbeing, health and productivity. A key
focus for 2021-22 will be the reduction of business miles from pre Covid-19 levels.
Waste and resource use
Reducing waste, maximising re-use of items and recycling are all essential activities that deliver
value for money and tackle climate change. As part of our remote care oximeter project, we were
instrumental in shaping new and more sustainable practices to reduce waste. As a result of our
intervention, patients were advised to return oximeters for decontamination at a convenient time to
them rather than dispose of them. NHS England decontamination guidance was circulated via
practices to ensure patients knew how to return them safely. This intervention has significantly
reduced wastage, with up to 90% re-use being achieved in some areas.
Digitally delivering climate change action
We continue to invest in digital platforms and solutions that allow our patients to receive remote
consultations. Our ICS project on teledermatology has resulted in over 1,000 advice and guidance
consultations, with 47% of patients being managed in primary care saving over 400 outpatient visits.
Not only does this improve the patient pathway, it also has a significant impact on transport
emissions. During Covid-19 we have also revamped and re-used 125 computers in vaccination
centres that were going to be disposed for recycling.
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Commissioning & Procurement
During the year our ICS has been building on previous work led by our partners in local authorities,
which is working on ways to improve opportunities for local business. As an Anchor Institution, a
major element of this work is maximising Social Value Act opportunities within procurement
undertaken by the CCG and its wider public sector partners. Through our ICS partners we delivered
a Thinking Differently Together event that looked at how we can incorporate social value and
sustainability more into our purchasing decisions to deliver greater community value and benefits.
Whilst we continue to explore how best to incorporate existing social value and sustainability criteria
into our procurement processes, we have committed to pilot new guidance on sustainability
measures into some forthcoming procurements in 2021-22.
Our People
Moving forward it is essential that our people understand how and why tackling climate change is a
primary health care intervention. During the year we have embarked on an education and
awareness raising campaign to ensure our staff understand the links between sustainability, climate
change and health. Regular sustainability updates are posted in our staff newsletter the Buzz. We
launched an indoor plant challenge designed to get staff thinking about the benefits of plants in
providing clean air, wellbeing and an activity that is environmentally positive during the winter
lockdown. We have created a new Sustainability page on our staff intranet and sustainability is now
included in our new staff induction programme. Our staff are also working closing with the newly
formed Essex and Suffolk Greener Practice Group which, is a GP led group that seeks to encourage
and facilitate practices to adopt eco principles to deliver environmental and health benefits.
Moving forward we plan to design more training and guidance that integrates carbon reduction
measures into our decision making and planning for priority areas. In 2021-22 we will also include a
sustainability section on our website to allow our communities to understand our plans and how they
can work with us to tackle climate change.
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Performance Overview
Patient and Public Involvement – Engaging People and Communities
Our approach in a challenging year
Perhaps this last year, more than ever, we have seen the value of working with patients and the
wider public to improve health outcomes. The NHS response to Covid and the vaccination
programme has relied on collaboration with our communities, working with them to develop a
response which has supported and enabled new ways of managing their health. This approach has
been critical in maintaining a good patient experience, sustaining high quality services and delivering
responsive and reactive solutions in an ever changing environment.
The CCG’s commitment to involving, listening and working with the public has been elevated this
year with the creation of the Head of Patient and Public Involvement and Experience role, which was
filled in October 2020. Members of patient groups across all three CCGs played an important role in
the interview and appointment process of the successful candidate. Members of the patient groups
attended the presentation, asked questions and scored the candidates. The presentation was given
40% of the final mark.
Now part of the Nursing Directorate, working alongside Quality Assurance colleagues the team are
well placed to ensure that patient experience informs quality monitoring and improvement, as well as
the planning and commissioning of services.
Moving our public involvement and engagement activity online has presented us with a range of
opportunities and challenges. Supporting our communities and public to adapt to this new way of
working has ensured their continued participation in decision making and planning. Our groups, open
forums and public meetings have been facilitated through online meeting platforms, virtual
presentations and information sharing via social media, press releases and local communication
channels such as parish newsletters, community groups and our partners in the VCSE.
Some of the patient and public involvement activity over the last 12 months includes;
Building community capacity
In April 2020 the CCG worked with SCC Building Community Capacity Officers and Community
Action Suffolk Good Neighbour Scheme Coordinator to understand the needs of volunteers during
lockdown. We met with representatives of local communities to understand the range of volunteering
activities taking place. We worked with partners to create a short survey for volunteers to see if there
were emotional support needs for this group and linked Suffolk Mind in with the Good Neighbour
Scheme to offer best practice advice in supporting volunteers should emotional support be required.
Insight into shift to Online working
In May 2020 we worked with the ICS Digital team to hear about the early patient experience of
transition to online platforms. Through facilitated Community Discussions which included
representation from all three CCG patient engagement forums patient insight was gathered around
the switch to online health consultations and appointments. This insight was shared with the ICS
digital team to guide development and further roll out across the CCG areas.
Review of the Cancer Nurse Specialist
Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated care System commissioned a review of their Clinical Nurse
Specialist (CNS) workforce, the outcome of this review was to improve the cancer pathway for
patients within secondary care.
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Performance Overview
Engaging People and Communities continued
The CCGs also wanted to review best practice recommendations for CNS activities, gaps in care
delivery and identify reasons for the gaps in care delivery including training needs. The project was
to review services within Suffolk and North East Essex ICS in the following pathways;
- Gynaecology
- Upper Gastro-intestinal
- Lower Gastro-intestinal
- Urology
- Haematology
To support this piece of work the team held two focus groups with patients to understand their
experiences. Feedback was collated and then fed into the wider programme and used to plan the
forward view of the service.
Maternity Engagement and Maternity Voice Partnerships (MVPs)
In 2020 the team supported the maternity transformation team to facilitate partnership working
between Maternity Voice Partnerships and the Local Maternity System, to improve maternity services
and patient experience through effective coproduction as part of the Better Births transformation
plan. This was made possible by facilitating open conversations with the MVP Chairs and Heads of
Maternity and addressing issues and barriers in working together.
Engagement with maternity service users remains difficult for the MVPs due to not being able to
physically be at the hospital/baby groups etc. The team have supported the MVPs to connect with
maternity service users through social media to recruit new members and have helped link the MVPs
in with hard to reach and vulnerable groups, via Church groups and Health Visiting Teams.
CYP Mental Health Transformation
In June 2020 we set up a ‘Children and Young People’s Network’ to act as an information sharing
and engagement platform for the CCG and it’s Alliance partners. We started with around 10
members and since then the network has grown to nearly 80 people from various organisations and
groups. The network is comprised of professionals who work directly with young people, to include:
ISCRE, Youth Outreach, The Wellbeing Hub, Volunteering Matters, NSFT, Nurses and Support staff,
Social Care and Education.
The network has played an important role in developing CYP Services within Health and creates
opportunities for colleagues to access young people for feedback, engagement and coproduction.
More impressively, it also creates empowering opportunities for young people to become involved
and influence positive change. Some of these activities have included;
-

The development of a new Crisis Outreach Service where people were part of the recruitment
process
In October 2020 young people made and launched an animation video, which included
avatars of themselves, to help young people understand the changes that would be
happening within mental health service provision.
During September and October 2020 as part of #adifferentconversation work, we asked
people living in east and west Suffolk to let us know what they thought of our plans by filling
out a survey. The feedback received was then used to amend the plans further.
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Cancer Transformation - Personalised Care
A Personalised Care Patient Panel was held in October 2020 with the Cancer transformation
Manager, a MacMillan GP, a Consultant and ICS Clinical Lead, Nurse Specialists for Breast and
Colorectal and five cancer patients. At the meeting a patient portal was discussed and how this will
work in Primary Care to support our patients, and improve the patient experience and pathway
through services. This information was then used to shape the design of new pathways.
Development of the winter communications plan
Between August and November 2020 patient forums across the ICS were involved in the
development of our winter Communications plan. These members met monthly with the Head of
Communications and the Patient and Public Involvement Manager to agree priorities, messaging and
communication channels (learning from the experience of the previous few months of working mostly
online). The plan was circulated to all members of outpatient forums for comment and review. The
plan was designed to be as co-productive as possible and all members were asked to support the
delivery of the plan through the utilisation of their local networks and connections.
Cancer Patient Advisory Panels
The Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) Cancer Strategy 2018 – 2022
includes a commitment to bring together patients, those Living With and Beyond Cancer (LWBC),
carers, patient-advocates, community support organisations, health care providers and clinicians to
share knowledge, experience and ideas that actively identify and shape the improvements required
to local cancer pathways and services. The Patient and Public Involvement team ensured the patient
voice was at the heart of this by recruiting to three different patient advisory panels and facilitated
their involvement in the patient advisory panels:
1. Supporting faster diagnosis for lung, prostate, colorectal and oesophago-gastric cancer
pathways.
2. Improving support for people living with and beyond cancer for breast, prostate and
colorectal cancers.
3. Rapid diagnostics Centres and Vague Symptoms Clinics
These have been moved to virtual panels at the start of the pandemic, which has worked well, and
patients have felt that their opinions were being heard by the clinicians and health care providers at
those meetings.
Covid Vaccination Programme
More recently the CCG has worked with the public in the Vaccine Programme development and
delivery. We have developed a survey working with local system partners and patient groups to
understand the vaccine experience and how we could improve it. The survey results are
complemented by community led discussions with different groups of people, including people with a
learning disability, carers, people with severe mental health problems, older people and many more.
At the time of producing this report nearly 4000 people have completed the online survey and more
than 100 people have taken part in community learning discussions.
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The insight and learning from this data has been shared weekly with the Vaccine Equalities
Reference Group and the Vaccine programme Board. This has resulted in a number of changes to
the vaccination process including improvements to site organisation and accessibility, improvements
to information provided at the sites, development of the Vaccine Communication Plan and
information Quality Assurance processes.
Engagement and Involvement work in West Suffolk
Community Engagement Group
The Community Engagement Group (CEG) is a public group that represents the patients and public
of west Suffolk. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic and shutdown of all public meetings, the CEG
members have been meeting virtually and more regularly, on a monthly basis to share updates from
their localities.
A weekly newsletter was produced and circulated to all members summarising information across
health, social care and the VCS during the first stages of the COVID crisis. This included information
from the stakeholder update, Suffolk County Council, Healthwatch Suffolk, Suffolk Mind and BME
networks.
In May 2020 the Community Engagement Group members worked with each Integrated
Neighbourhood Team across west Suffolk to ensure the patient and public voice was being
represented in these discussions. Connections were made with the Newmarket, Bury Town, Bury
Rural and Haverhill INTs. CEG members now attend the locality meetings for these areas.
Other activity conducted by members of the CEG include
•
•
•
•
•
•

CEG member Lynne Byrne was involved in the recruitment of the Patient Experience Officer
role.
CEG members were invited to support the NHSE PPI audit process 2020/21.
CEG member Michel Simpkin attended an Integrated Care System (ICS) Rapid Diagnostics
Patient Advisory Panel, to share lived experience. The next panel was due to take place in
January 2021 but was postponed until later in the year, due to the vaccination programme.
CEG member Carol Mansell has been actively involved in the responsive work churches
have been doing throughout the pandemic, supporting food banks with pop-up shops and
offering debt counselling and support to young people with mental health issues.
CEG member Graeme Norris volunteered to be a rolling chair for the newly developed PPG
Network.
Two members of the CEG have resigned, Paule Wise who intends to focus more on his role
at his PPG and Nicola Mann, who remains a member of the Early Stroke Discharge patient
panel on the CCG.
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West Suffolk PPGs and PPG Network
PPG members were keen to help out during the pandemic and volunteered to deliver PPE to GP
surgeries, however this was then picked up by ESNEFT, as commissioner of the ERS Medical
pathology collection service across Suffolk and North East Essex, to make the PPE deliveries as part
of their planned routes.
PPG members were able to be active volunteers during flu season and throughout the Covid-19
vaccination rollout, to support the CCG and GP practices. Some members were asked via the
WSCCG Community Engagement Group to share selfies or videos receiving their flu jab, as part of
our winter communications plan.
A PPG network for West Suffolk was established in November 2020, to replicate that of IESCCG and
NEECCG. This is a virtual network, welcoming Chairs and members of the West Suffolk PPGs to
attend. PPG members will be able to make suggestions on topics to discuss, speakers and the
frequency of these meetings. Initially we are going to trial three meetings a year.
The first successful meeting of the PPG network was held in November and the PPGs led the
agenda, for example with issues that COVID has caused their surgery etc. The next meeting was
held in March and followed a similar theme, with PPG members identifying speakers to attend.
The network has members from 15 PPGs and covers all six PCNs across West Suffolk.
There is also a PPG newsletter that goes out quarterly, although paused temporarily during lockdown
and it will be reviewed and restarted if PPG members feel it is something they would benefit from.
West Suffolk Alliance - Good News Stories
At the beginning of the pandemic, the team were asked to source case studies of the system
working together during Covid-19. This included stories such as the VCS raising money for PPE and
CCG staff volunteering to deliver PPE and supporting local pharmacies by volunteering to work extra
shifts.
These ‘good news’ stories were shared across the ICS via our Alliance partners, to promote the
collaborative working response to the pandemic
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Resources
The NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group delivered its key statutory and
administrative financial duties during the financial year ending 31 March 2021, posting a surplus
of £2.0million, against an overall Agreed Revenue Allocation of £430.9 million. Financial
performance targets can be found in Section 3 Accounts, Note 20. The allocation was based on
a formula that takes into account factors such as the age and needs of the population served by
the CCG, as well as market forces.
The NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk, NHS West Suffolk CCG and NHS North East Essex CCGs
are overseen by a single management delivery team headed by a Chief Executive (Accountable
Officer). All three CCGs also have a shared Director of Nursing, Director of Finance, Director of
Corporate Services and System Infrastructure, Director of Performance and Contracts and
Director of Strategy and Transformation. Each CCG has its own dedicated Chief Operating
Officer.
This structure has enabled the provision of:
•
•
•

dedicated support for the specific functions required of each CCG, its Governing
Body, committees and membership
expertise in safeguarding, quality and safety, financial management and contracting,
and
economies of scale through shared functions.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties relevant to each CCG during the course of 2020/21 are
recorded and managed via its Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).
At year end, the NHS West Suffolk CCG carried forward a number of risks on the GBAF in the
following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

WSFT 18 week Referral to Treatment (RTT), A&E performance, cancer waiting times,
CQC, and longer term financial pressures
Mental health trust performance and CQC issues
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust performance and CQC issues
Cyber security
Insufficient workforce across the system
Covid-19 impact on service delivery and finances
Delivery of 2020 flu vaccination campaign
EU Exit
Delivery of the Covid-19 vaccination programme
Structural issues at West Suffolk Hospital associated with Reinforced Autoclaved
Aerated Concrete infrastructure.
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All of these risks are reviewed on a regular basis by the Directors and reports made to
Governing Body, Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee who hold the CCG to
account regarding plans to mitigate these risks.
Each Director maintains a local risk register which ensures that risks are identified as early as
possible and managed to reduce their potential impact.
A Risk Forum has been set up to enable risks and activities to be shared across the
organisation enabling a more holistic approach to risk management.
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework and Management of Conflict of Interests
have been given ‘reasonable’ internal audit assurance ratings
The Governing Body has risk management strategies and an organisational framework that set
out how risks should be managed. The full GBAF can be viewed within the Governing Body
papers on our website.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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The Accountability Report
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Member Practices Report
The NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is a membership organisation, comprising
24 GP practice members from across west Suffolk. GP practices are the backbone of our NHS,
are an integral part of the community and are often the providers of healthcare to many
generations of the same family.
Yet there are many challenges, with rising demand and ongoing recruitment issues making this a
testing time for our primary care providers.
It is pleasing to report that local GP practices are performing better than the national average and
patients are reporting a high level of satisfaction, according to the annual IPSOS Mori/NHS
England patient survey for 2020.
Along with Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG, West Suffolk CCG showed the highest performance for
overall patient experience in the region, with all but three practices above national average.
Just over 3000 west Suffolk patients rated their experiences of using their GP practice including
how easy it was to contact the surgery, the helpfulness of receptionists, satisfaction with the type
of appointment and recognition of mental health needs.
Overall, in west Suffolk 86% of respondents said their overall experience of their GP surgery was
very good or good, compared to the national average of 82%.
In dealing with coronavirus, we are proud of the way in which every GP practice adapted quickly to
ensure patients were still able to access primary care services, with many swiftly introducing
telephone and video appointments. These changes in practice and learning are all being taken
into consideration to help us understand what the future model of primary care can be for west
Suffolk.
This new way of working has been welcomed by many patients, taking into account the risk of
digital inequalities. In looking to the future of primary care services it is clear there will continued
demand for this type of appointment. However, we are mindful there needs to be a careful balance
so all patients can access an appointment whether that is face-to-face or remotely.
GP practice members are represented on the CCG’s governing body and clinical executive as well
as a number of key committees. The PCN Clinical Directors also attend the CCG Clinical
Executive to provide additional clinical leadership. This section of the report details individual
practice and committee members; details of governing body member remuneration can be found
in the remuneration report.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021

40. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
List Member Practices Report
This section sets out details of the member practices of the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the Membership Bodies.
Angel Hill Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

The Long Melford Practice

Stanton Surgery

Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall

Botesdale Health Centre

Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Brandon Medical Practice

Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket

Haverhill Family Practice

Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket

Christmas Maltings & Clements Practice, Haverhill

The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket

Forest Surgery, Brandon

Siam Surgery, Sudbury

Glemsford Surgery

Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Guildhall Surgery, Clare

Reynard Surgery, Mildenhall

Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury

Wickhambrook Surgery

Lakenheath Surgery

Woolpit Health Centre
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Composition of Governing Body
The Governing Body Membership includes eleven men and seven women
Dr Ed Garratt, Chief Executive Officer
Dr Ed Garratt is Accountable Officer for Ipswich & East Suffolk, West Suffolk
and North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Groups. He is also the
Executive Lead for the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System
(ICS) and lead commissioner of the East of England Ambulance NHS Trust.
Ed is a Visiting Professor of Integrated Care at the University of Suffolk (20212024).
Ed has a strong reputation for building collaboration. He has over 15 years’
experience of working in the NHS, has worked at regional level in
commissioning and currently co-chairs the East of England Health Inequalities
Board. He has worked on major national policy by supporting the development
of the NHS Constitution and the government’s NHS White Paper 2021. Ed
holds a doctorate in English Literature from the University of Cambridge.

Dr Christopher Browning, GP Chair
Dr Browning is the Chair of West Suffolk CCG and is a GP appraiser with 13
years’ experience in hospital medicine and 16 years as a GP. He has had
operational experience in the out-of-hours service and many years’ experience
representing his GP colleagues on the Local Medical Committee.

Dr Zohra Armitage, GP and Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds
locality
Dr Armitage is an experienced GP. She has had various clinical and
management responsibilities within different practices and the CCG. Her
clinical interests include adolescent health, sexual health and end of life
care. When not at work she is a busy mum and wife, and enjoys running and
reading.

Steve Chicken, Lay Board Member
Steve Chicken joined the CCG’s Governing Body in early 2017 as lay member.
He also works for the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in the same
capacity. Steve has held senior roles in global manufacturing businesses and
is a specialist in continuous improvement. He and his wife have lived in Suffolk
for 22 years, as do his parents, grown children and grandchild.
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Geoff Dobson, Lay Board Member (Corporate Governance)
and Vice Chair
Geoff Dobson provides strategic and impartial advice on financial
management issues to make sure the CCG meets its statutory guidelines and
carries out its work according to nationally agreed standards. He oversees key
aspects of corporate governance including audit, remuneration and managing
conflicts of interest. Geoff worked in local government finance for more than
four decades, most recently as Suffolk County Council’s Director of Resource
Management.

Paul Gibara, Director of Performance Improvement
Paul has over three decades of NHS experience, starting out as a Registered
Nurse in the 1980s, and since then he has held a number of senior clinical,
operational and commissioning leadership roles, within a diverse range of
settings. His most recent role was as Chief Commissioning and Performance
Officer at NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group. He is responsible for the performance, negotiation and effectiveness
of contracts commissioned by the CCGs. Paul’s priorities have always been
to ensure patients and families receive the highest standard of personcentred care and he has always taken a keen interest in supporting staff and
organisations, and the provision of safe, good quality care and effective
outcomes, combined with the best use of resources.

Dr Andrew Hassan, Associate GP
Dr Hassan qualified from Sheffield, entered General Practice in 1980 and was
a senior partner at Avicenna surgery in Hopton until retirement from practice
in 2015. He has also served as the Chairman of the Bury St Edmunds PCG,
PEC Chair and Board Member for Suffolk West PCT; Chair of the Individual
Funding Panel and Clinical Priorities Group for the joint management team of
the Suffolk CCGs and Medical Director of NHS Suffolk until 2013.

Amanda Lyes, Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructure
Amanda has an NHS career spanning 20 years. Her portfolio encompasses
HR, IM&T, corporate governance and information governance. Her strengths
lie in the field of change management, organisational development and
employee relations. She is an experienced board member having held board
level positions in other NHS organisations. She is a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Personnel and Development and holds an MSc in Human Resource
Management.

Lisa Nobes, Director of Nursing and Clinical Quality
Lisa is the Chief Nursing Officer for the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk CCGs. She started her nursing career at West Suffolk Hospital 29 years ago and
moved to Manchester to train and practise as a children’s nurse at the Royal Manchester
Children’s Hospital before relocating back to Suffolk to work at the East Anglia Children’s
Hospice. She enjoyed working at both the hospice site and providing care to children at
the end of their lives in their homes. She left EACH to become a Lecturer in Children’s
Nursing and then a Senior Lecturer in Service Improvement, teaching service
improvement methodologies to under and post-graduate health students. She has
worked in the acute sector at both West Suffolk Hospital and Ipswich Hospital in senior
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nurse leadership posts, most recently as Director of Nursing at Ipswich Hospital before
taking up the CNO role in the Suffolk CCGs. Her academic background is in psychology,
inter-professional healthcare education and health psychology and she has recently
been appointed as Senior Visiting fellow at University of Suffolk. She is interested in coproduction of services with users and families and is keen to work with the wider Suffolk
community to understand how services need transforming to meet the needs of Suffolk
residents. Nursing remains a career that she loves and she is keen to work with senior
nurse leaders across Suffolk to be the voice for nurses, midwives and AHPs.

Jane Payling, Director of Finance
Jane is the Chief Finance Officer for the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk, NHS
North East Essex and NHS West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. She
previously worked at CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy) as Head of Health and Integration. This followed 10 years as
Director of Finance at Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust where Jane
was part of the team which secured the go ahead for the New Papworth
Hospital. She joined the NHS in 1992, and has worked in a variety of NHS
roles across East Anglia.

Dr Godfrey Reynolds, GP and Lead for Forest Heath locality
Dr Reynolds is Senior Partner at the Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall, where
he has worked as a GP for 30 years. He qualified from Birmingham University
Medical School in 1983 after training spells in Africa and the United States and
worked in hospitals in the West Midlands for five years before entering general
practice. He has been a member of Suffolk Local Medical Committee for 25
years and was its Chair from 2010 to 2016. He has interests in forensic
medicine and psychiatry. He has been Chair of the Mildenhall Sick and Poor
Fund Charity for 30 years.

Lynda Tuck, Lay Board Member (Patient and Public
Engagement)
Lynda joined the CCG’s Governing Body in 2018. Her role is to ensure the
patient and public voice is listened to and remains integral to the decisionmaking of the governing body. Lynda has enjoyed an extensive career in
health care, both in delivering frontline services and in an educational setting.
She began her career as a nurse and midwife followed by an appointment as
Associate Dean (Health) at Bedfordshire University, with responsibility for
nursing and midwifery programmes. Latterly, Lynda held senior posts at
Bedford Hospital NHS Trust, including Associate Director of Operations,
building a well-deserved reputation for her focus on improving services for
patients through training, innovation and partnership working.

Kate Vaughton, Director of Integration and Partnerships
Kate joined the NHS in September 2001 and has gained extensive knowledge
from working across various NHS organisations. Prior to joining WSCCG Kate
was working at NHS North East Essex CCG as Chief Operating Officer playing
an active role as a board member contributing to the development of the vision,
aims and business objectives of the CCG.
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Dr Firas Watfeh, GP and Lead for Haverhill locality
Dr Watfeh is a GP partner at The Haverhill Family Practice. He is the GP lead
for prescribing and has a keen interest in dermatology. He represents his GP
colleagues on the LMC Board.

Richard Watson, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of
Strategy and Transformation
Richard has worked across the NHS and local government in a variety of roles,
most recently at NHS Enfield CCG where he led on the redesign of clinical
services. He has also been an elected local councillor and cabinet member
within a London borough where he led on community safety, leisure and
libraries. He is passionate about improving outcomes and managing complex
service redesign in partnership with other stakeholders.

Dr Bahram Talebpour, GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury
locality
Dr Talebpour has been a GP in Sudbury since 2012, and has been on the
Governing Body since 2016. He leads on Planned Care for the CCG.

Dr Victoria Wilson, GP Lead for Bury and Blackbourne
locality
Dr Wilson has served the WSCCG since 2016, first as an associate and
subsequently as a board member since 2019. Her interests include local
maternity services and promoting GP recruitment, training and retention. She
is an East Anglia peri-natal mental health champion and is co-chair of the local
First Five Group of newly qualified GPs.

Dr Andrew Yager, GP Lead for Cancer
Andrew is an experienced GP having come to Botesdale Health Centre as a
partner in 1986. In 1992 Andrew gained an MSc in Medical Ethics. In 2003 he
was elected as a Fellow of the Royal College of General Practitioners. In 2012
with the advent of CCGs Andrew became West Suffolk CCG clinical lead for
cancer and now also works for Macmillan throughout Norfolk and Suffolk as a
Macmillan GP. Within this role he has an interest in improving cancer services
along the patient journey within primary and secondary care, particularly
relating to early diagnosis and survivorship.
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Key Committees
Clinical Scrutiny Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning (Chair)
Steve Chicken
Nichole Day
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Jon Reynolds
Dr Jep Ronoh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Lynda Tuck
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Dr Victoria Wilson
Dr Andrew Yager
Commissioning Governance Committee
Steve Chicken
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Jane Payling
Lynda Tuck
Remuneration and Human Resources (HR) Committee
Dr Christopher Browning (reserve member)
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Lynda Tuck
CCG Collaborative (Committee of West Suffolk CCG, North East Essex CCG and
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG)
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Dr Hasan Chowhan
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Graham Leaf
Jon Price
Dr Mark Shenton
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Key Committees continued
Financial Performance Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Lynda Tuck
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Dr Victoria Wilson
Dr Andrew Yager
Community Engagement Group
Lynne Byrne
Terry Clements
David Dawson
Carole Eagles – VCS Representative
Carol Mansell
Margaret Marks
Graeme Norris
Tanya Millar
Barbara Pooley
Jon Rapley
Elizabeth Storer (Healthwatch)
Michael Simpkin
David Taylor (Chair)
Lynda Tuck (Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement)
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Key Committees continued
Audit Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Lynda Tuck
The following attend the Audit Committee:
• Representatives from Finance
• Representatives from External Audit
• Representatives from Internal Audit
• Representatives from Counter Fraud
Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Lynda Tuck (Chair)
Kate Vaughton
Lois Wreathall
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Personal data related incidents
There were no serious incidents relating to data security breaches, and therefore none
reported to the Information Commissioner (ICO).
Register of Interests 2020/21
The Register of Interests document can be found on the constitution page of the NHS West
Suffolk CCG website here.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report

•

the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS West Suffolk CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
The CCG has nonetheless chosen to produce a statement, which can be found on its
website, HERE.
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External Audit and Complaints
External Audit
The CCG’s external auditor was EY until their resignation following the 19/20 audit and
tender for audit services for 2020/21. The cost of services provided by them in 2019/20 was
£65,628 for the local statutory audit (inc. VAT). For the 2020/21 audit, the CCG’s external
auditor is BDO LLP, whose fee is £62,400 (inc. VAT). In relation to 2019/20 work was also
undertaken on the Mental Health Investment Standard by BDO LLP, at a cost of £12,000.
Equivalent work has not yet been commissioned in relation to 2020/21, and national
guidance has not yet been issued on whether it will be required.

Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS)
Complaints and Compliments
The Patient Experience Team is responsible for the oversight of complaints and
compliments. This includes issues raised by GP practices in the GP contract issues log as
well as issues raised through the PALS.
Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 the team received a total of 332 complaints for the
three CCGs covering Suffolk and North East Essex, 65 of which related to West Suffolk
CCG. Of these complaints, 24 (of which 6 related to WSCCG) were later closed due to
consent not being received or the complainant deciding to withdraw their complaint, and 207
(of which 26 related to WSCCG) were passed to the relevant service provider.
All complaints received were acknowledged within 3 days. The CCGs’ target response
timescale for responding to complaints is 25 working days, which was achieved for 78% of
complaints received during 2020/21. In cases where the timescale could not be met, a
revised timescale was agreed.
One complaint (of which 0 related to WSCCG) was received during 2020/21 and was
referred to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO). The PHSO has
requested further information before making a decision as to whether they will investigate.
The details of complaints form part of the CCGs’ patient experience report. The main
themes identified in complaints to the CCGs during the year were community services (all)
patient transport (WS and IESCCGs) and Primary Care (NEECCG).
There were 209 letters received from MPs relating to the three CCGs, 20 of which related to
WSCCG.
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PALS
PALS provides information and advice on NHS services, non-emergency hospital transport
and community health services within Suffolk and North East Essex.
The main aim of PALS is to resolve problems and concerns for people using NHS services
before they become a major issue. It also acts as an early warning system by monitoring
and highlighting any problems or gaps in service provision.
The total number of contacts between patients and the PALS service in 2020/21 for Suffolk
and North East Essex was 1,783. This included 239 relating to WSCCG patients.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive
Officer to be the Accountable Officer of West Suffolk CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

•
•
•
•
•

•

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements
of the Government Financial Reporting Manual, taking account of the application guidance
contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual, and in
particular to:
•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on
a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

52. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Corporate Governance Report
Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities continued
•

•
•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, taking account of the application
guidance contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual, have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in
the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that West Suffolk CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the auditors are unaware.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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West Suffolk CCG - Governance Statement 2020-21
Introduction and Context
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by NHS
England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for
the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange
for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2020, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under
Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.

Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The Governance Framework of the CCG is the system by which the CCG is directed and
controlled in order to achieve its objectives and meet the necessary standards of
accountability and probity. Effective corporate governance, along with clinical governance,
is essential for a CCG to achieve its clinical, quality and financial objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and associated
legislation, sets out the legal framework within which the CCG operates. It is a statutory
requirement that the CCG Governing Body specify their terms of reference, schedule of
reservation and delegation of powers, and the financial framework within which the
organisation operates. These key documents comprise the CCG’s corporate governance
arrangements and include:
•

The Constitution - as a framework for Governing Body governance
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•

The Detailed Financial Policies - as a framework for financial governance

•

The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation - as a framework for internal governance

It is essential that the public and all employees are aware of these documents and that
employees understand their responsibilities as set out within. They are therefore reviewed,
updated and approved each year at a meeting of the Governing Body in public and made
available on the CCG web site and intranet.
The CCG’s Membership Body includes 24 member practices.
The CCG’s Governing Body includes 8 GPs elected by their peers, a secondary care doctor
a lay member for governance, a lay member for patient and public involvement, a third
general lay member, a Chief Executive as Accountable Officer, a Director of Nursing and a
Director of Finance. The Governing Body also includes 4 non-voting Directors.
Governing Body meetings focus on strategy, clinical and service development, finance,
performance and scrutiny and governance and corporate business.
Some of the key items considered by the Governing Body at meetings during the year
included:
•

Development of the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) and
operational plans for 2021-22

•

Ongoing development and support for the West Suffolk Alliance including service
transformation through dedicated funding

•

The system response to the Covid-19 pandemic, emergency funding and vaccination
roll out

•

Mental Health Service Transformation Programme

•

Commissioning Intentions for 2021-22

•

Sizewell C proposed nuclear power station

•

West Suffolk Hospital Infrastructure

•

Approval of a new CCG Constitution

•

Development of system governance

Given the dynamic environment within which CCGs operate, even the most experienced
Governing Body Members benefit from on-going training and support. New Members also
need induction and training, allowing them to understand their role and the organisation’s
governance processes. As such and in response to the annual self assessment process, the
CCG provides Governing Body Members with regular training opportunities, with particular
focus on scrutiny and challenge. This ensures the Governing Body is effective in the
discharge of its duties.
In view of the global Covid-19 pandemic, 2020-21 was a different year as regards attendance
at meetings with almost all being held on a virtual basis.
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The table below shows the Governing Body attendance for 2020-21:
West Suffolk CCG – Governing Body
Governing Body Member

20 May 20

23 Jun 20
(Part Two)

(Part One and
Two)

(Part One and
Two)

23 Sept 20

28 Oct 20
(Part Two)

(Part One and
Two)

25 Nov 20

23 Dec 20

06 Jan 21
(Part Two)

(Part One and Two)

Armitage Zohra

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

(Part One and
Two)

Day Nichole

(Lay Member for Governance - Vice Chair)

Yes

Yes

Game Mark

(Chief Executive)

27 Jan 21

Yes

(Deputy Director of Finance)

Garratt Ed

(Part Two)

Yes

(Deputy Director of Nursing)

Dobson Geoff

29 Jul 20

Yes

Yes

Gibara Paul

(Director of Performance and Improvement)

Lyes Amanda

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Nobes Lisa

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Watfeh Firas

Yes

Yes

Yes
(P1 only)

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Wilson Victoria

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Consultant in Public Health
Medicine

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

(Director of Corporate Services and System
infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Chief Operating Officer)
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post – Secondary Care
Doctor

Note – where an entry is blank and shaded, this means that the listed person was not invited to
attend the meeting. This will have occurred where a named individual was not in post at the
meeting date or where a deputy or representative was invited for a specific meeting or meetings and
does not normally attend. This applies to all the attendance tables included within the annual
report.
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West Suffolk CCG – Governing Body
Governing Body Member

24 Mar 21

(Part One and
Two)

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Chicken Steve

Yes

Day Nichole

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Gibara Paul

Yes

Lyes Amanda

No

Nobes Lisa

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

Watfeh Firas

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes

Wilson Victoria

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

Consultant in Public Health
Medicine

No

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

(Deputy Director of Nursing)
(Lay Member for Governance - Vice Chair)
(Chief Executive)
(Director of Performance and Improvement)
(Director of Corporate Services and System
infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Chief Operating Officer)
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post – Secondary Care
Doctor
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The formal sub-committees established by the CCG Governing Body include:
The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy of:
(i)

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal Audit
statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent assurances,
prior to endorsement by the Governing Body;

(ii)

The mechanisms for identifying and managing key risks facing the organisation
through the operational effectiveness of policies and procedures relating to internal
control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF); and

(iii)

The policies and procedures for prevention, detection and management of work
related to fraud and corruption as set out in Secretary of State Directions and as
required by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included consideration and oversight of:
•

The strategy and work plans for External Audit, Internal Audit and Counter Fraud

•

The organisation’s approach to Data/Cyber Security & General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR)

•

Oversight of risk management through the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF)

•

Assurance engagement on the Mental Health Investment Standard

•

Review of delegated limits and routes of expenditure approval

•

Annual Review of the CCGs Accounting Policies and Detailed Financial Polices
(DFP’s)

Internal Audit reported on a variety of items, which are discussed in the Head of Internal Audit
opinion.
West Suffolk CCG – Audit Committee
Audit Committee Member

07 Apr 2020

Chicken Steve

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

17 Jun 20
(Extraordinary)

15 Sept 2020

8 Dec 20

23 Feb 21

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Leaf Graham

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance IESCCG, coopted)

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Others in attendance to advise:

Internal Audit
External Audit
Director of Finance
Governance Advisor
Chief Corporate Services
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Involvement)

Yes
External Audit
Internal Audit
Director of Finance
Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Governance Advisor
Project Accountant

Yes

Yes

No

Internal Audit
Counter Fraud
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of
Finance
Governance Advisor
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Accountant

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of
Finance
Governance Advisor
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Accountant

Internal Audit
External Audit
Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Advisor
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The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is to:
(i)

Advise the Governing Body about the appropriate remuneration and terms of
service for the CCG’s Accountable Officer, Directors and senior managers.

(ii)

Under delegated powers from the Governing Body, make decisions on all
aspects of the Accountable Officers’, Directors’ and senior managers’
remuneration (within the provisions of relevant national frameworks), provisions
for other benefits and other contractual terms.

(iii)

Advise on all Human Resources policies, and procedures and issues that may
impact on the terms and conditions of employment for all staff.

(iv)

Advise on all matters of health and safety.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:
•

Monitoring workforce information including recruitment, vacancies, sickness
and organisational structure.

•

Oversight of Health and Safety/Risk Management

•

Management running costs

•

Oversight of the Training Hub and Apprenticeships

•

The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)

•

The Suffolk and North East Essex People Plan

•

Home working policy and procedure

Remuneration and HR Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Remuneration & HR
Committee Member

09 Jun 2020

06 Oct 2020

11 Nov 2020
(Virtual)

10 Dec 2020
(Virtual)

16 Feb 21
(Extraordinary)

10 Mar 21
(Extraordinary)

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Reserve - Browning
Christopher

No

No

No

No

No

No

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Deputy Director of
People and Culture

Director of
Corporate Services
and System
Infrastructure
Deputy Director of
People and Culture

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Lay Member for Patient and
Public Engagement)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Others in attendance
to advise:

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Chief Executive

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
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Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee
The purpose of the Clinical Scrutiny Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a dedicated forum for the oversight of clinical governance.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body and Audit Committee that the CCG has
the necessary clinical governance arrangements in place to meet its objectives.

(iii)

Ensure effective clinical engagement in clinical governance processes, utilising
clinicians’ specific expertise and knowledge of local communities and public/patient
involvement.

(iv)

Facilitate a culture where clinical quality, patient experience and patient safety are
of the highest priority.

Clinical Scrutiny Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Clinical Scrutiny
Committee Member

29 Apr 20

24 Jun 20

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

Day Nichole

26 Aug 20

28 Oct 20

23 Dec 20

24 Feb 21

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

(Deputy Director of Nursing)

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul
(Director of Performance Improvement)
Lyes Amanda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Nobes Lisa

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Payling Jane

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)

Reynolds Jon

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Ronoh Jep

No

No

No

No

No

No

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda
(Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement)

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Watfeh Firas

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Watson Richard

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Wilson Victoria

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yager Andrew

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Consultant in Public Health)
(GP Member)

(Director of Integration)
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
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The Commissioning Governance Committee
The purpose of the Commissioning Governance Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a forum, with delegated decision-making powers, for approval of commissioning
intentions where the recommended providers are GP practices.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body, Audit Committee, NHS England and the
general public that the CCG has the necessary governance arrangements in place to
manage conflicts of interest with regard to the procurement of services provided by GP
practices.

(iii)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the local commissioning of GP
services.

(iv) Demonstrate that the CCG and member practices are acting fairly and transparently,
and that final commissioning decisions are made in ways that preserve the integrity of
the decision making process.
Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

01 Apr 20
(Virtual)

02 Apr 20
(Virtual)

14 Apr 20
(Virtual)

26 May 20
(Virtual)

23 Jun 20
(Virtual)

02 Jul 20
(Virtual)

05 Aug 20
(Virtual)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul

Yes

(Director of Performance Imrovement)

Payling Jane

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Director of Finance)
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

21 Aug 20

8 Sept 20
(Virtual)

10 Nov 20
(Virtual)

8 Jan 21
(Virtual)

2 Feb 21
(Virtual)

12 Feb 21
(Virtual)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Gibara Paul

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Chief Executive)
(Director of Performance Imrovement)
(Director of Finance)
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is established in accordance with statutory
provisions to enable the members to make collective decisions on the review, planning and
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procurement of primary care services in West Suffolk, under delegated authority from NHS
England.
West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Committee Member

29 Apr 20
(Part Two)

(Part One and Two)

Bhagwat Ameeta

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Gibara Paul

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Kearton Jennifer

Yes

(Deputising for Director of Finance)

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

(Chief Executive)

24 Jun 20

26 Aug 20

(Part One and Two)

20 Oct 20
(Virtual)

27 Oct 20
(In Common)

11 Nov 20
(Part Two Virtual)

Yes

(Director of Performance Improvement)

(Deputy Director of Finance)

Lyes Amanda

No

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

No

Wreathall Lois

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Browning Christopher Dr

Yes

Yes

Yes

Healthwatch Representative

Yes

Yes

No

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative

No

No

No

LMC Representative

Yes

No

Yes

NHS England Representative

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructure)
(Director of Finance)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Director of Integration)

(Deputy Director of Primary Care)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Non-Voting Members
(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

(Observer)

(Observer)
(Observer)

(NHS England Representative)

West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Committee Member

23 Dec 20
(Part One and
Two)

06 Jan 21
(Part Two)

13 Jan 21
(Part Two - Virtual)

Armitt Chris

24 Feb 21
(Part One and Two)

17 Mar 21
(Part Two)

Yes

(Deputy Director of Finance)

Chicken Steve

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Gibara Paul

Yes (Part one
only)

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

(Chief Executive)
(Director of Performance Improvement)
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Lyes Amanda

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

No

Yes

No

No

No

Wreathall Lois

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher Dr

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Healthwatch Representative

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative

No

No

No

No

No

LMC Representative

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

NHS England Representative

Yes

No

No

Yes

Part

(Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructure)
(Director of Finance)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Director of Integration)

(Deputy Director of Primary Care)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Non-Voting Members
(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

(Observer)

(Observer)
(Observer)

(NHS England Representative)

The Financial Performance Committee
The purpose of the Financial Performance Committee is to:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)
(vi)

Establish a financial performance framework which enables the CCG to proactively
manage its financial, performance and quality, innovation, productivity and prevention
(QIPP) agenda
Provide assurance about financial performance to the Governing Body by reviewing
and scrutinising performance reports and remedial action plans in detail prior to
submission to Governing Body meetings
Ensure that the CCG operates within agreed budgets and proposing plans and
necessary actions to maintain financial balance
Demonstrate the achievement of value for money and provide confidence to the
Governing Body and wider public that the CCGs resources are being used effectively
and efficiently
Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the delivery of effective financial
and performance management
Hold to account the relevant Directors and appropriate GPs for delivery of agreed
plans within their areas of responsibility

Financial Performance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

17 Jun 20

16 Sept 20

11 Nov 20

16 Dec 20

17 March 21

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)
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Dobson Geoff

Yes (Part)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes (Part)

Yes

No

No

No

Nobes Lisa

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part 2 only

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes (Part)

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes (Part)

No

Yes

No

Yes

Wilson Victoria

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed

(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul

(Director of Performance
Improvement)

Lyes Amanda

(Director of Corporate Services and
System Infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vaughton Kate

(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and
Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post – GP
Vacant Post - GP

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including the aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code in
respect of leadership, effectiveness and accountability that we consider to be relevant to the
Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions

Arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework have been developed with extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed
the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
During the course of 2020-21, the organisation's processes for effective risk management
were managed in line with the CCG Risk Management Strategy and Organisational
Framework and the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
The Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure is the designated lead for
overseeing the day-to-day coordination of risk management reporting arrangements,
including training and is a resource for all risk related issues. The Governance Advisor
supports Directors, Heads of Department and Line Managers, whilst also scrutinising all
identified risk and incident data. As the designated lead, the Director of Corporate Services
and System Infrastructure works in partnership with:
•

The Risk Manager who acts as the CCG’s ‘Competent Person’

•

The Director of Nursing with respect to risk management requirements set out in the
Care Quality Commission standards, and

•

The Information Governance Lead and Data Protection Officer

Equality Impact Assessments are conducted at the outset of setting strategy and delivering
services across the commissioning cycle ensuring a control and assurance culture through
risk, incident and complaints management. This in turn ensures a clearly defined culture of
equality across the CCG’s activities.
Risk Assessment
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) provides the CCG with a simple but
comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of risk. Through the GBAF
the Governing Body gains assurance from the Directors that all risks are being appropriately
managed throughout the organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic goals may be at risk because of
inadequacies in the operation of controls, or where the CCG has insufficient assurance. It
encompasses the control of risk; provides structured assurances about where risks are being
managed and ensures that objectives are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body
to determine how to make the most efficient use of resources and address the issues
identified, in order to continuously improve the quality and safety of healthcare
commissioning.
The likelihood and consequences of all risks on the CCG Risk Register are assessed against
an agreed 5x5 risk matrix, to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process. Risks of
sufficient concern to the organisation as a whole inform the Governing Body agenda and are
assessed for migration to the GBAF. The management of risks differs according to their
likelihood and consequence, and the risk matrix allows priorities to be assigned for remedial
action, and assessment of whether risks should be accepted. This system is also used to
review how well the agreed controls are operating.
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The risk rating matrix used:

Likelihood score →

5:

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1: Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Almost
Certain

Consequence score ↓

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also
assigns priorities for remedial action and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings. In
terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating within the
following classifications:
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RAG Score

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

Progress

Risk Assessment

• There may be significant gaps in controls to
ensure effective management.
• Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
• Controls are in place but external forces may
be preventing progress.

• There are insufficient controls in place to address the
cause or source of the risk
• Controls are considered insubstantial or ineffective
• Controls are being implemented but are not yet in place
• If this risk were to materialise, the situation could be
irrecoverable in terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial well-being and or service
continuity.

Progress is being made but there is concern
that the objective may not be achieved.
Additional controls or management action is
being taken to improve the likelihood of
success.

There are few controls in place, which are considered
substantial and/or effective and address the cause of the
risk. The consequences of the risk materialising, though
severe, can be managed to some extent via contingency
plans.

Progress is being made in accordance with
plans. There are no significant concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and there are sufficient
controls in place which address or substantially address the
cause of the risk. The consequences of the risk
materialising can be managed via contingency plans.
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Revising Risk Ratings

If controls are inadequate then the revised risk rating
increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised risk rating stays the
same as the original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate, then the revised risk
rating decreases

A summary of the key strategic risks affecting the CCG during the course of 2020-21
(including those carried forward into future years) and the actions taken to eliminate or
mitigate them have included:
Covid-19 Pandemic
Understandably, a number of key strategic risks for 2020-21 concerned the Covid-19
pandemic, specifically in regard to additional expenditure (GBAF Risk 57), management of
the outbreak (GBAF Risk 56) and the vaccination roll out programme (GBAF Risk 59). With
the NHS operating at an Incident Level 4 or 5 for most of the year, the CCG had a business
continuity plan in place with an incident room covering Suffolk and North East Essex providing
tactical support to the Suffolk Outbreak Management Centre. A Local Outbreak Management
Plan was published in June 2020. At the start of the outbreak, the increasing incidence of
Covid-19 cases resulted in a significant impact on the delivery of primary and secondary care
but through the implementation of new ways of working and the provision of additional
capacity, pressures decreased towards year-end.
Additional expenditure to support the Covid-19 response presented a financial risk for the
CCG and the wider system potentially resulting in the restriction of future services or failure
to meet financial targets. In order to manage the risk, a Covid-19 Resource Approval
Committee (CRAC) was established on an extraordinary basis to address decision-making
in regard to coronavirus resource requirements across the local healthcare system. The
CRAC considered requests for expenditure from £10k up to £3m on the basis that national
policy was for all reasonable Covid-19 related expenditure to be reimbursed from central
government resources up to a level to allow the CCG to break even.
The national Covid-19 vaccination programme has been a success within which Suffolk and
North East Essex played a significant part. However, the CCG recognised the risk that work
streams maybe unable to deliver the requirements of the national vaccination programme
resulting in the necessary timescales being compromised. Through the establishment of a
Programme Group with a dedicated team bringing together the various work streams,
hospital hub vaccination sites were established at the Ipswich, Colchester and West Suffolk
sites, twenty Primary Care Network vaccination centres opened across Suffolk and North
East Essex and the system leads worked with the Essex Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust, as lead provider and the NHS England regional team, to operationalise the
wider vaccination programme.
Ambulance Services
The East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EEAST) failed performance targets
against ambulance response time categories with a particular concern regarding delays in
response to acuity category 1 and 2 calls (GBAF Risk 39). EEAST performance has remained
average in the sector and resource targets were met despite 20% staff absence rates. Whilst
by year-end the Trust was much closer to meeting the necessary standards, the risk remains
challenging.
EEAST was also issued with Section 29a and 31 Notices following a CQC inspection in June
2020. The Trust was subsequently placed into Special Measures for quality concerns in
October 2020 (GBAF Risk 60). As a result, EEAST now have a Director of Nursing with
specific responsibility for clinical quality and improvement. The Trusts Quality Improvement
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Plan put in place to address the Section 29a and 31 Notices includes 124 specific actions
together with a ten-point plan produced and coordinated by NHS England and NHS
Improvement monitored through monthly quality and performance meetings.
While these risks pertaining to ambulance services are owned by the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG, the implications and remedial actions are of equal importance to West Suffolk CCG.
Mental Health
The CCG’s main mental health provider is the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust, which
continues to have variable CQC ratings demonstrating that the service requires improvement.
As such, the CCG holds risks around the capacity of NSFT to discharge its service
adequately, and the consequent potential risk to patients (GBAF Risks 27a and 27b). The
CCG continues to work closely with the Trust, with additional controls including a joint quality
assurance process, where the Director of Nursing regularly reviews progress against every
service line and the CQC action plan through clinical quality meetings. As a result of these
actions, feedback from a CQC inspection in November 2020 was positive in regard to inpatient wards and crisis teams with further inspections of other services to follow. During the
Covid-19 pandemic, CCG teams maintained close contact with NSFT colleagues, and the
Trust expanded their telephone offerings to patients. In addition, the CCG invested in
additional voluntary sector capacity to manage lower risk patients.
Acute Care
The West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT) has continued to miss its 62-day referral to
initial treatment cancer target (GBAF Risk 45), with this having been further impacted by the
Covid-19 pandemic. The Trust has provided weekly performance information which has been
monitored with monthly quality contract review meetings. The Cancer Board has been
working across the system to improve performance by systematically identifying and
mitigating bottlenecks. The volume of cancer referrals did not decline during the second wave
of the pandemic as it had in the first and by Q4 of 2020-21, services are returning to normal
but with further progress dependent upon endoscopy waiting times. With on-going restrictions
effecting diagnostic efficiency, the final impact of the pandemic on waiting times is unknown
and is why the risk remains critical.
Regarding the 18-week referral to treatment (RTT) target (GBAF Risk 33), WSFT failed the
necessary performance requirement on both aggregate and individual speciality levels with
this being another quality target adversely affected by the pandemic whereby greatly
increased numbers of patients breached the 52-week maximum target. Previous recovery
targets were benchmarked against activity in 2019-20 and will need to be revisited in light of
the additional pressures occasioned by the pandemic.
WSFT has also missed its 4-hour A&E target (GBAF Risk 27), which presents a potential risk
to patient safety and experience. Again, this has been impacted by Covid-19 although as
WSFT is now part of the trial of alternative A&E metrics, reporting on the existing 4-hour
standard is not required by NHS England. However, the underlying issues identified prior to
the pandemic are still being addressed through a number of key controls including daily
reporting of performance, internal escalation processes, admission avoidance schemes, GP
streaming arrangements and 111 targets to reduce inappropriate referrals. As required by
NHS England guidance, an A&E Board is also in place to oversee performance. As at Q4 of
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2020-21, A&E demand was returning to normal although system pressures remain
challenging.
A risk in regard to the WSFT financial position remains challenging (GBAF risk 52). As a
CCGs provider, this presents a risk to service delivery with consequent financial pressures
across the West Suffolk Alliance. As such, the West Suffolk Alliance Resources Group
continues to monitor financial performance and assist the Trust to stabilise its finances. The
Alliance and wider ICS partners are determining the actions and service changes necessary
for the Trust to regain financial balance in 2021-22.
A new risk was added to the Governing Body Assurance Framework in February 2020
following a CQC inspection of WSFT which rated the Trust as requiring overall improvement
(GBAF Risk 53). The CQC also initiated an enforcement action in respect of patient safety
improvement in maternity and midwifery services. In addition, they issued a warning notice
under Section 29a of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 with a requirement for the Trust to
address the issues of concern by the end of January 2020. By year-end, WSFT was making
good progress against the agreed action plan underpinned by monthly contract review
meetings and the CCG being integrated into the WSFT quality governance processes.
Other Risks
A new risk in regard to the WSFT infrastructure was added in February 2021 (GBAF risk 61).
This concerned WSFT having identified and alerted the CCG to risks associated with the
hospitals reinforced autoclaved aerated concrete (RAAC) infrastructure. The use of RAAC
planks in construction was commonplace in the late 1960’s and 1970’s but a report from the
Standing Committee on Structural Safety (SCOSS) in May 2019 identified a risk of shear
failure in buildings constructed using RAAC planks. In order to address the risk, WSFT have
established a surveillance programme and remedial action plan. The CCG has likewise
established its own RAAC Risk Committee, independently chaired, to ensure all necessary
mitigations are in place.
One risk the CCG holds on its GBAF is the risk of a cyber-security incident leading to
widespread system outages (GBAF risk 42). This could result in a lack of access to records
and services. Whilst eliminating the risk of cyber-attack completely is not possible, the CCG
together with its IT provider has achieved cyber essentials accreditation. There are monthly
provider service reviews together with a bi-monthly Joint Digital and IT Services Board. The
Audit Committee monitors the impact of the work to reduce the cyber security risk to the CCG.
The CCG also holds a risk of the UK leaving the EU at the end of the transition period (GBAF
risk 43), and the impact on NHS service provision this may have. There remains a lack of
clarity about any impact the new trade deal with the EU will have particularly in regard to the
import of medicines and medical devices. Regular monitoring has therefore continued, and
the CCG is engaging with NHS England, providers and GPs, and the Joint Leadership Team
regularly monitors any developments. The CCG also holds an EU Exit Action log to ensure
all relevant actions for commissioners are completed as required.
Linked to Brexit, a risk in regard to provider workforce (GBAF risk 49) where a lack of a
sufficient workforce across the system could lead to shortfalls in patient safety, care and
services is being addressed through a system level workforce strategy. An interim NHS
People Plan has been released together with Local Workforce Assurance Boards and the
establishment of a primary care training hub. There is also a GP Support Hub providing
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support for the recruitment and retention of GPs with monthly data demonstrating progress.
A nursing programme has been established and is meeting its targets to increase nurse
placements by 15%. An important Next Generation Project is also in place working with
schools and colleges to provide careers advice and joint recruitment events.
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Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over the course of the
year as follows:
Risk No
NSFT CQC
NSFT

Performance

WSFT RTT
WSFT Cancer
Targets

SEND
CAMHS
WSFT A&E
2020 Flu
Campaign
EEAST
Performance

Covid
Resource

CHC DOLS
Cyber
Security

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

Oct-20

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

25►

25►

20▼

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

20►

20►

Removed

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

16

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

12►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

15

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

Brexit
WSFT
Maternity
Covid 19

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

Removed

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

WSFT

16►

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

Removed

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

9▼

9►

9►

9►

Quality

Wedgewood

WSFT CQC
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Provider
Workforce
IUC 60
Seconds
WSFT
Finance
Covid 19
Vaccine
EEAST
Quality
WSFT

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

15►

15►

15►

15►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

20

20►

20►

20►

20

20►

20►

12

12►

Infrastructure
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None of the principal risks relate to compliance with the CCG licence. In addition, the
Governing Body reviews the GBAF at each of its meetings thus ensuring a high degree of
rigour over the CCG’s performance.

Capacity to Handle Risk

All actions contain inherent risks and risk management is central to the effective running of
any organisation. The CCG therefore ensures that decisions made on behalf of the
organisation are taken with due consideration to the management of risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body must be confident that the systems, policies and people
it has put in place are operating in a way that is effective, focused on key risks and driving
the delivery of the organisation’s objectives. The Governing Body must also demonstrate that
it has been properly informed, that it is aware of the totality of risk facing the organisation,
and that it has made decisions on the management of that risk based on all of the available
evidence. The CCG’s risk and control mechanism is described diagrammatically below:

The GBAF is built around the Risk Register, from which the relevant strategic risks are drawn.
At each Governing Body meeting, the GBAF is presented, allowing members to effectively
assess whether they would like risks currently held at a lower level on departmental risk
registers to be migrated to the GBAF.
Incident and risk reporting is actively encouraged across the CCG and relevant reports are
recorded within the systems managed by the Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructures department.
As a working document, the GBAF is updated monthly by the Directors and reviewed by the
Governing Body (in public), the Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee at each
of their meetings.
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Risks arising from the CGG’s daily operations can result in less than optimum quality of
service, financial loss, disruption of normal operations, accidents and injuries, or adverse
publicity. The likelihood of these events occurring and the potential extent of their impact
depend on the CCG’s practices, processes and culture, as well as external influences.
A key aim of the CCG’s risk management arrangements is the continued reduction of risk
through the involvement of staff at all levels of the organisation. Supporting this, anybody
who identifies a risk can report their concerns to their line manager, a Director or by submitting
a completed Risk Report Form.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to
ensure it delivers its objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. How we achieve this is described in the preceding sections.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs requires CCGs to
undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to
undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
The annual audit was undertaken with an overall assessment of reasonable assurance.
Data Security
Data security risks are reported through the Head of Information Governance/DPO to the
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure. The CCG’s Information
Governance Steering Group that reports to the Audit Committee monitors a detailed action
plan, linked to the requirements of the NHS Digital Data Security and Protection Toolkit
(DSPT). Overall standard compliance has been achieved for all of the toolkit
requirements. The CCG is aware of the increased risk from so called Cyber Security attacks
and has included this on the GBAF.
Information Governance
The NHS Digital Data Security and Information Governance Framework sets the processes
and procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in
particular personal identifiable information, and gives assurance against the 10 Data Security
Standards. It is supported by a Data Security and Protection toolkit, and an annual
submission provides assurance to the public and others that personal information is dealt
with appropriately.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems in
place to protect patient and corporate information. All staff are required to undertake annual
information governance training, we have established an information governance
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management framework, as well as processes and procedures in line with the Data Security
and Protection toolkit. These include processes for incident reporting and investigation of
serious incidents. Our procedures have embedded an information risk culture throughout the
organisation.
Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. Quality
assurance is vital to ensure that business critical models are robust. The CCG ensures as
part of its quality assurance that the appropriate governance is applied to its business critical
models and that NHS quality assurance guidelines and checklists are also applied.

Control Issues

The CCG is not aware of any current significant control issues that would potentially:
•

Prejudice the achievement of priorities or undermine the integrity or reputation of the
CCG and/or wider NHS

•

Put delivery of the standards expected of the Accounting Officer at risk

•

Make it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, or divert resources from
another significant aspect of the business

•

Have a material impact on the accounts

•

Put national security of data integrity at risk.

Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
The CCG has systems and processes for managing its resources including the following:
• Standing Orders.
• Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
• Financial Policies.
• Strict controls on vacancy management, recruitment and use of agency staff
• Devolved budget management throughout the CCG.
• QIPP Delivery
The Governing Body gains assurance on the delivery of its financial duties from the Financial
Performance Committee on a regular basis following their review of detailed financial
information including financial planning and QIPP delivery. The Programme Management
Office (PMO) also provides a monthly report to the Financial Performance Committee.
A monthly Integrated Performance Report is submitted to the Governing Body and Clinical
Scrutiny Committee, and provides performance updates on Constitutional Standards, Clinical
Quality and Patient Safety, Contractual Performance, Redesign programmes and the
Programme Management Office.
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Assurance is also provided to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee, which receives
regular reports from both Internal and External Audit to ensure that controls are operating
effectively and to advise on areas for improvement. The internal audit plan has been designed
to deliver assurance against constitutional duties and give useful insight into any gaps in
controls.

Delegation of Functions

The CCG has not delegated any of its functions.

Counter Fraud Arrangements

The CCG is required, under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in accordance with
the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHS CFA) Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery
and Corruption, to ensure that appropriate counter fraud measures are in place.
There was a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery activity, supported by the
accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) whose annual work plan was monitored
by the Director of Finance and the Audit Committee.
The LCFS attends the CCG Audit Committee regularly to provide progress reports and
updates, as well as providing an annual NHS CFA Self-Review Assessment against each of
the Standards for Commissioners. Appropriate action would be taken regarding any NHS
CFA quality assurance recommendations.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HoIA) for the Year Ended 31 March 2021
The purpose of the annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the
Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Board’s own assessment of
the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist
the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement (AGS).
The opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Scope and Limitations of Work; and
3. Summary of work undertaken.
1.

The overall opinion is a positive opinion; that the organisation has an adequate
and effective framework for risk management, governance and internal control.
However, internal audit work has identified further enhancements to the
framework of risk management, governance and internal control, to ensure that it
remains adequate and effective.

2.

The scope and limitations of the work is as follows:

The formation of our draft opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work,
agreed with management and approved by the Audit Committee. Our draft opinion is
subject to inherent limitations, as detailed below:
• the draft opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and
assurances relating to the organisation;
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•

•

•
•

•
•

•

3.

the draft opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans
generated from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such, the
assurance framework is one component that the Governing Body takes into
account in making its annual governance statement (AGS);
the draft opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work
undertaken, the scope of which has been agreed with management / lead
individual;
the draft opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to
the area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;
where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where
these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a
reduction in compliance;
due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to our attention; and
it remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of
risk management, internal control and governance, and for the prevention and
detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be
seen as a substitute for management’s responsibilities around the design and
effective operation of these systems.
our internal audit work for 2020/21 has been undertaken through the substantial
operational disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. In undertaking our audit
work, we recognise that there has been a significant impact on both the operations
of the organisation and its risk profile, and our annual opinion should be read in this
context.
Summary of work undertaken – Please see table below for summary of internal
audit work undertaken
Report

Assurance Level

Key Financial Controls
Governance Part 1
Primary Care Commissioning
Governance Part 2
Safeguarding Adults – Oversight of
Providers
Risk Management
Conflicts of Interest (Draft)

Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Advisory

GDPR
Financial Governance
Joint Management Team

Advisory
Advisory
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GP Pensions

Advisory

Data Security Protection Toolkit

Advisory

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the CCG. My review was informed in a number of ways:
•

Directors within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provided me with assurance.

•

The GBAF itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been
reviewed.

•

The work of Governing Body committees; particularly the Audit Committee, which
scrutinises and challenges governance and risk activities and seeks assurances on
the effectiveness of controls.

•

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body, provides
strategic clinical leadership, expertise and advice whilst ensuring effective clinical
engagement, utilising clinicians’ knowledge of local communities and public and
patient involvement.

•

The work of the Chief Nursing Officer’s team in carrying out quality visits, inspections
and monitoring provider serious incidents and risks.

•

Contract meetings with providers, which hold them to account for the quality of the
services commissioned.

•

The Health & Safety and Risk Committee reviews health & safety risks and ensures
the health & safety of the workforce and any persons working or visiting the premises.

•

The Information Governance (IG) Committee reviews information governance risks
and issues, including data losses, IT security, the CCG’s obligations under the General
Data Protection Regulations 2018 and progress with the IG Toolkit assessment, action
plan and submission. The latter is also monitored by the Audit Committee.

•

The work of regulatory bodies such as Monitor and the Care Quality Commission their inspection reports provided assurance on the quality and governance of our
provider organisations and services and help triangulate local information.

•

The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.

•

The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious incidents and
robust monitoring of action plans to ensure recommendations are put into practice and
risk mitigated.
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•

Internal Audit provides an independent, objective opinion on the degree to which
governance and risk management supports the achievement of the organisation’s
objectives. The Head of Internal Audit, in accordance with NHS Internal Audit
Standards, is required to provide an annual opinion of the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control, covering the whole
financial year. For 2020-21 the opinion stated that reasonable assurance could be
given, as a generally sound system of internal control is in place, designed to meet the
organisation’s objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently and
effectively, with only minor areas for improvement identified.

•

Within the CCG information risk management forms part of the wider information
governance agenda. Ultimate responsibility rests with me as Accountable Officer and
I am supported by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), a member of the
Governing Body. The SIRO in turn is supported on a daily basis by the Information
Governance and Risk Manager who has responsibility for following up on issues in
this area.

•

An Information Governance Group, chaired by the SIRO and attended by staff from all
areas, meets every quarter. This group discusses all information related issues and
makes recommendations of actions to address them. The group provides updates into
the Audit Committee on a regular basis. To support this, the CCG has approved a
number of polices including Information Governance Policy, IT Security Policy and a
Data Protection Policy, which guide staff on their responsibilities.

Conclusion
The Governance Statement highlights the CCG’s key governance issues for 2020-21.
Inevitably, the Covid19 pandemic has influenced much of the CCGs activity and business
over the course of 2020-21. The two peaks of infection in the spring of 2020 and winter of
2021 put the entire system under pressure but by year-end, when hospital and critical care
admissions were reducing, there was a focus on recovery whilst still managing the ongoing
challenges of the pandemic. The roll out of the vaccination programme commencing in
December 2020 was a story of significant success and staff across the system worked hard
and with flexibility to ensure service continuity. Despite the challenges occasioned by the
pandemic I can, however, confirm that all of the CCGs governance arrangements remained
in place with robust alternative processes for effective oversight and decision-making.
One of the CCG’s key priorities is to improve access to mental health services across Suffolk.
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) is the main provider of mental health
services commissioned by the CCG. A previous Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection
report highlighted serious concerns in service quality and rated the Trust inadequate overall.
Subsequent inspection ratings have remained variable indicating that improvements in some
services are still necessary. Feedback from a CQC inspection in November 2020 was positive
in regard to in-patient wards and crisis teams with further inspections of other services to
follow. The CCG has therefore continued to work closely with the Trust during 2020-21 to
ensure it delivers the required quality improvements and to address the challenges of the
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Covid-19 pandemic. The NHSE Mental Health Long Term Plan (LTP) is addressed locally by
the Suffolk Mental Health Transformation Programme which is underpinned by the 10 Year
Suffolk Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Strategy. During 2020/21, as part of the
response to the pandemic, some areas of mental health transformation have quickened pace
including the establishment of the NSFT mental health First Response Service (FRS) crisis
telephone line, 24/7 NSFT Psychiatric Liaison services at the West Suffolk Foundation Trust
and provision of NSFT 24/7 Home Treatment Teams. However, the pandemic response has
both nationally and locally highlighted population inequalities and the increasing role that the
voluntary, community and social enterprises can play in future service models.
2020-21 has been another year of change where the CCG has continued to transform health
and care services as part of the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System which
was established from the former Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) as a
second wave ICS in April 2019. The ICS has now been in place for three years and with
partners is taking collective responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards
and improving the health of the populations of Suffolk and North East Essex. As an ICS all
local stakeholders including the NHS, local government, primary care, local charities and
community groups are aligning their efforts so that the one million people living across Suffolk
and North East Essex can live healthier lives for longer.
2019-20 has also been the year in which the West Suffolk Alliance has further developed,
building upon its five- year strategy 2018-23 and developed jointly with the West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust, Suffolk County Council, Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust and Suffolk
GP Federation working with West Suffolk CCG and wider public and voluntary sector
partners. The Alliance is one of three within the Suffolk and North East Essex ICS, with
Alliances also in Ipswich and East Suffolk and North East Essex. The vision for the West
Suffolk Alliance is to strengthen support for people to stay well and manage their wellbeing
and health within their communities by focusing on individual needs, changing the ways
services are configured and working together to make effective use of resources.
In summary, good governance is about the processes for making and implementing
decisions but is also important for several other reasons. It not only gives the local community
confidence in its CCG as the commissioner of their healthcare, but improves the confidence
that members and officers have in their own organisation and its decision making processes.
With the heightened corporate focus across the NHS on integrated working through ICSs and
Alliances, the need for clear and robust governance arrangements is ever more important.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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Remuneration Policy

Remuneration Policy
The CCG’s policy for the remuneration of senior managers was operated in accordance with Agenda
for Change and it is intended to continue with this policy for future years. The pay for both the
Accountable Officer and the Director of Finance was in accordance with recently published national
guidance. The remainder of the senior managers are paid on the VSM (very senior manager) grade,
all salaries have been nationally benchmarked.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
No senior manager of the CCG was paid more than £150,000 per annum.
Senior managers’ performance related pay
There is no element of pay that is performance related.
Policy on senior managers’ contracts
All CCG staff, including senior managers (up to and including Band 9), follow the national terms and
conditions of service pertaining to notice periods. The maximum period of notice under Agenda for
Change is three months. Directors are appointed in accordance with the VSM framework (Senior
Salaries Review Body Recommendations) and have a notice period built into their contracts of
employment of six months.
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments of compensation on early retirement or for loss of office during the year
(2019/20 - £nil).
Payments to past members (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments to past members during the year (2019/20 - £Nil).
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r Management Remuneration Report Tables (Subject to audit)
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
The below relates to the 2020/21 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Paul Gibara joined the team as Director of Performance and Contracts (post formerly referred to
as Chief Contracts Officer) on 13 July 2020 following Richard Watson who had been acting in
the position from 21st January 2020.
GP Membership:
There have been no changes to the GP membership during the year.
Lay Members
There have been no changes to the lay membership during the year.
Other:
Ed Garratt, Lisa Nobes, Amanda Lyes, Jane Payling, Richard Watson and Paul Gibara (from
13/7/20) worked in the posts stated in the above table across West Suffolk CCG, Ipswich &
East Suffolk CCG & North East Essex CCG. Costs are recharged across the 3 CCGs in line
with running cost allowances.
The cost for Stephen Chicken is shared between the CCG's in the proportion:- Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG 60.60%; West Suffolk CCG 39.40%.
Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs host the Management Delivery Team that provides
management support to West Suffolk CCG, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and North East
Essex CCG. The costs of the Management Delivery Team were shared based on running cost
allocations: - North East Essex 33.8%; Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 40.2%; West Suffolk
CCG 26.1%. The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted Directors. In
addition to showing the salary and fees charged to Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG the table also
records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West Suffolk CCG and North East Essex
CCG host staff who form the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
share of these pay costs is shown as charges from West Suffolk CCG and North East Essex
CCG and not as payroll costs.
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Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:
•
•
•
•

PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
Note 3 - Expense Payments (taxable) to nearest £100
This is the gross value of such benefits before tax. It includes:
• Expenses allowances that are subject to UK income tax and paid or payable to the
person in respect of qualifying services, and
• Benefits received by the person (other than salary) that are emoluments of the person
and are received by them in respect of qualifying services.
In this instance, this is calculated in relation to the taxable element of mileage
payments.
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
The below relates to the 2019/20 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Jane Webster went on secondment to Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG starting
12th August 2019, and officially left the CCG on 21st January 2020 without returning to
NHS West Suffolk CCG. Jane Payling acted as Chief Contracts Officer for the period 12th
August 2019 to 20th January 2020, followed by Richard Watson acting in the position
between the dates of 21st January 2020 to the end of the financial year.
GP Membership:
Andrew Yager joined the Governing Body as the lead for Cancer on 1st September 2019.
Victoria Wilson joined the Governing Body as the lead for the Bury & Blackbourne locality
on 11th September 2019.
Other:
Lisa Nobes, Amanda Lyes, Jane Payling and Richard Watson joined North East Essex
CCG and worked in the posts stated in the above table across West Suffolk CCG, Ipswich
& East Suffolk CCG & North East Essex CCG. This commenced from 1st August 2019
and North East Essex CCG were recharged 37.18% of the relevant costs from that date
onwards.
Kate Vaughton currently joins board meetings at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust in
an attendance capacity and reports directly into Ed Garratt and Stephen Dunn (Chief
Officer at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust). Kate's role is the Director of Integration
and Partnerships.
Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG, and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCG's in the following proportions
up to 31st July 2020: - Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 60.60% (2018/19 - 60.60%) - West
Suffolk CCG 39.40% (2018/19 - 39.40%). After 31st July 2020, costs for directors were
shared as follows: - North East Essex 37.18%; Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 38.07%;
West Suffolk CCG 24.75% The Management Delivery Team includes the above
highlighted Chief Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to Ipswich
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
and East Suffolk CCG, the table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG's accounts and not as payroll costs.
Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:
•
•
•
•

PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
Note 3 - Expense Payments (taxable) to nearest £100
This is the gross value of such benefits before tax. It includes:
• Expenses allowances that are subject to UK income tax and paid or payable to the
person in respect of qualifying services, and
• Benefits received by the person (other than salary) that are emoluments of the person
and are received by them in respect of qualifying services.
In this instance, this is calculated in relation to the taxable element of mileage
payments.
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Members of the Board who do not make pension contributions or accrue pension benefits within the NHS Pension Scheme are not disclosed in
the above tables, as their remuneration is non-pensionable. They are listed below.
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Members of the Board who do not make pension contributions or accrue pension benefits within the NHS Pension Scheme are not disclosed in
the above tables, as their remuneration is non-pensionable. They are listed below.
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Pay Multiples (subject to audit)
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest paid director / member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation's workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director at NHS West Suffolk CCG in the
financial year 2020/21 was £100,000 to £105,000 (2019/20 - £95,000 to £100,000). This
was 2.51 (2019/20 - 2.60) times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£40,894 (2019/20 - £37,750). The highest paid member of the Governing Body moved up a
remuneration band in year due to a pay award. The median remuneration has increased in
year due to the recruitment of agency nurses within the Continuing Healthcare team to
support the Covid-19 response. For the purposes of this calculation, shared directors have
been included at their cost to the entity.
In 2020/21, no (2019/20, No) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid
director of the organisation. Remuneration ranged from £5,000 to £105,000 (2019/20 - from
£0 to £100,000).
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Introduction

Ipswich and East Suffolk, North East Essex and West Suffolk CCGs work together and have a shared
Management Delivery Team (MDT) which undertakes the majority of shared functions. In addition,
each CCG has its own discrete operations office, led by a Chief Operating Officer and Governing
Body. Staff which make up the MDT are employed by either West Suffolk CCG or North East Essex
CCG with relevant recharges to ensure that costs are apportioned in line with running cost funding.
The following staff report provides information on both the shared management delivery team and the
WSCCG operations office and Governing Body (where appropriate) thus showing the full range of
staff which support the CCG. The management delivery team is made up of 372 staff, with the
WSCCG operations office staff totaling 33 (excluding temporary bank staff). The sections below
provide further information on the composition of the staff team and policies implemented during the
year.

Staff Numbers by Band

The figures below show the headcount for the shared management delivery team, and those staff that
are assigned to WSCCG operations office and Governing Body members, these figures exclude
temporary bank staff.
MDT
Headcount

WSCCG
Headcount

Band
2-7
236
Band
2-7
12

8a
45

8a
4

8b
45

8b
1

8c

8d

Other

17

18

8c

8d

Other

1

1

14

Total

19

372

Total
33

Staff Numbers and Costs (subject to audit)
Permanently Employed Staff and other staff

The tables below show the split of staff between those which are permanently employed and other
staff. The tables show both the shared management delivery team and the CCG operations office.
Please note this includes temporary staff but excludes non-executive directors/ lay Governing Body
Members.
Permanently Employed
Headcount - MDT

Other Headcount
322

Permanently Employed
Headcount WSCCG

.

Total Headcount
58

Other Headcount
18

380

Total Headcount
7

25

93. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Remuneration and Staff Report - Staff Report
Staff Costs (Subject to Audit)

to

audit)
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Staff numbers by functional group
Management Delivery Team
Staff Group

Total Staff

Professional Scientific and Technical
Administrative and Clerical

1

1.00

338

291.97

4

0.99

37

35.15

380

329.11

Medical and Dental
Nursing and Midwifery Registered
Total

Total WTE

West Suffolk CCG
Staff Group

Total Staff

Prof Scientific and Technical
Administrative and Clerical
Total

Total WTE
6

4.75

19

11.70

25

16.44

Staff Composition
Governing Body
The staff composition of the CCG Governing Body is shown below, this includes all shared
directors which are part of the board of the CCG .

Headcount

WSCCG Governing Body composition by Gender
(headcount)
20
10
0
Series1

female
7

male
11
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The composition of the management delivery team is shown below by agenda for change
(AfC) pay band and gender.

MDT - Gender by AfC Pay Band

80
70

Number of Staff

60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Male

2
0

3
1

4
5

5
4

6
8

7
24

8a
10

8b
9

8c
5

8d
7

Other
5

Female

1

15

32

25

73

48

35

36

12

11

14

West Suffolk CCG

WSCCG - Gender by AfC Pay Band

7
6

Number of Staff

5
4
3
2
1
0

Male

2
0

3
0

4
1

5
0

6
0

7
0

8a
1

8b
0

8c
0

8d
0

Other
2

Female

0

0

0

7

4

0

3

1

1

1

4
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Staff Turnover
The staff turnover rate for West Suffolk CCG during the year was 8.97%. Staff turnover has
been decreasing steadily for the last 12 months and is at its lowest rate for two years.
Staff turnover is reported to the Joint Staff partnership and the renumeration committee. All
data is collected from the ESR Business Intelligence Reporting

Staff Survey Results
The CCGs take part in the annual NHS staff survey. The survey works on the basis of
payroll assignment, the closest match for this CCG is represented the staff employed by
Ipswich and East Suffolk and West Suffolk CCGs. The completion rate was 64% with the
main features shown on the graphic below.
Completion Rate: 64%
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Staff Policies applied During the Year
Equal Opportunities
The CCGs continue to follow the Equal Opportunities in Employment Policy which outlines our
commitment to ensuring that all employees, and CCG applicants for employment, are treated
fairly and equally. Recruitment and selection (including both external and internal
recruitment/promotion) procedures follow NHS Employers ‘good practice guidance’ and meet
NHS employment checks and standards.
In 2020, the CCGs also co-produced a WRES action plan, with a group of staff who
volunteered to be part of this work. Many of these staff are from Black and Asian Minority
Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds and contributed valuable insight and shared lived experience to
inform the plan which was published in October 2020 and work towards implementation of this
plan and the Model Employer goals continues.
The CCGs are also represented in the SNEE ICS Equality, Diversity and Inclusion group which
brings together colleagues from across the ICS and is looking at where greater gains can be
made at ICS level and also supporting the SNEE People Plan with an ED&I strategy.
All staff including board members are also required to undertake mandatory equality and
diversity e-learning training.
The CCG values diversity and recognises that this is an area for further work. We also
recognise that to recruit and retain staff, we will need to retain and develop an inclusive culture
that makes the CCG an employer of choice for applicants
Disability
In the 2020 NHS National Staff survey, 92% of employees said that they felt that CCGs had
made adequate adjustments for them to be able to carry out their work.
The CCG’s HR function works closely with occupational health, access to work and of course
line managers to ensure that individuals who require adjustments are supported and that this
support is precisely tailored for the individual.
In addition to this:
•
•
•

We are a ‘disability positive’ employer. If an applicant is disabled and meets the
essential criteria for the job description they are guaranteed an interview. This is
enshrined in our Recruitment and Selection Policy
Adjustments for disability-related illness are included in our Sickness Absence Policy
We have a policy of ensuring we make all reasonable adjustments to enable staff
with disabilities to progress in line with their peers.
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These measures are designed to ensure we:
•
•
•

give full and fair consideration to applications made by disabled persons, having
regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities
continue the employment of, and appropriate training for, employees who have
become disabled since they were employed by the company, and
provide training, career development and prospects for promotion of disabled
employees.
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The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017
Relevant union officials
Total number of employees who were relevant union officials during 2020/21:
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during 2020/21
1
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Full-time equivalent employee number
1
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of their working time spent on facility time by employees who were
relevant union officials employed during 2020/21:
Percentage of time
0%
1-50%
51-99%
100%

Number of employees
0
1
0
0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union
officials for facility time during 2020/21:
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility
time

£1k
£14,930k
0.0%

Paid trade union activities
Percentage of total paid facility time hours spent by employees who were relevant
union officials during the 2020/21 on paid trade union activities:
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

100%
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Other Employee Matters
Staff Engagement
A variety of means are used to keep staff informed about workplace developments.
These include:
• regular one-to-one meetings with line managers during which they are encouraged to
raise any concerns or issues
• fortnightly team briefings hosted by the Chief Executive or members of the Executive
team during which questions are encouraged or can be tabled anonymously in
advance
• The Buzz, a fortnightly electronic newsletter, and
• ICS Newsletter
Any issues concerning staff are reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee and the
Staff Partnership Forum for discussion.
The CCG’s values and behaviours are included in the personal development plans of all
employees and regular reviews are conducted by line managers to ensure they are adhered
to.
Joint Staff Partnership:
The CCG works closely with trade unions including Unison, the Royal College of Nursing
and Managers in Partnership as part of the Joint Staff Partnership (JSP). Meetings occur
every other month and details of matters discussed, and decisions taken are communicated
to staff.
Health and Safety
The Health, Safety and Risk Committee meets bi-annually to review issues relating to the
CCGs.
The committee is chaired by the Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure
and draws membership from across the three CCGs in Suffolk and North East Essex and
the management delivery team. The committee reports to the Remuneration and HR
Committee for information and comment.
Endeavour House, Landmark House and West Suffolk House are Suffolk County Council
buildings all have Building User Group (BUG) meetings. The CCGs have representatives
who attend these meetings and any health and safety issues, from either the Health, Safety
and Risk Committee or respective BUG meetings, are fed back to staff via these forums.
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Other Employee Matters (cont)
Health and safety training is now provided via eLearning. The mandatory modules cover the
required areas of health and safety for a low risk office environment and each module
includes an assessment that must be passed by staff.
All CCG staff that occupy Suffolk County Council buildings dovetail into the fire and first aid
arrangements which are in place. Staff have been trained in the use of evacuation chairs so
they are able to assist disabled staff in the event of an incident. Any health and safety
concerns
relating to the buildings are relayed to the building facilities management team for action.
The SCC buildings CCG staff occupy comply with current fire safety legislation with minimal
risk of fire spread.
The Terms of Reference for the Health, Safety and Risk Committee are reviewed annually.
The committee continues to provide advice to staff on their safety within the office
environment and work with them to maintain a safe environment for staff and visitors.

Expenditure on Consultancy
The CCG spent £143k during 2020/21 on consultancy services (2019/20 - £133k).
The majority of the expenditure for the year was in relation to Corporate
Governance. This was in connection with an Information Governance lead to ensure
the CCG's compliance with such legislation.
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Off-payroll engagements

Off payroll engagements
There were three off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months during the year.
Off Payroll Engagements as of the 31st March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last
longer than 6 months;

Number of existing engagements as of the 31st March 2021
Of which, the number that has existed
For less than 1 year at the time of reporting
For between 1 and 2 years at the time of reporting
For between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting
For between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting
For more than 4 years at the time of reporting

Number
2
0
0
0
0
2

New off payroll engagements
For all new off payroll engagements or those that reach 6 months in duration, between the
1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last longer than 6
months.

Number new engagements or those that reach 6 months in duration
between April 1st, 2020 and 31st March 2021
Of which,
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to the entity) and are
on the entity’s payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year.
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review

Number
1
0
1
0
0
0
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Off-payroll engagements
The CCG has robust contractual arrangement with all of its off-payroll engagements
that minimises any risk to the CCG. The contractual arrangements require all offpayroll engagements to provide assurance that the correct amount of tax is being
paid.

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2020 and 31 March
2021:
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial
year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

0

17

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual)
payments (subject to audit)
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and in full in
the year of agreement.

2020/21:
The CCG agreed 1 exit package during 2020/21. The exit package was agreed in
the form of a redundancy payment for the value of £25,833. This will be paid by West
Suffolk CCG only.
2019/20:
The CCG agreed 6 exit packages during 2019/20. The exit packages were agreed in
the form of redundancy payments. Exit payment one was for £139,144, payment two
for £71,591, payment three for £161,091, payment four for £77,221, payment five for
£6,262 and payment six for £27,951. Payments one to five were in relation to
members of the management delivery team, while payment six was in relation to
West Suffolk CCG alone. Payments one to five have been split in cost between
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and West Suffolk CCGs, but the exit packages were
paid by West Suffolk CCG as this is where MDT colleagues are employed.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as
notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Annual Accounts Note 19. An
audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at the end of
Section 3, Annual Accounts.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021
2020-21
£'000

Note

2019-20
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(13,582)
(972)
(14,554)

(13,668)
(5)
(13,673)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

15,969
424,656
497
1,912
404
443,438

15,285
381,899
205
(335)
387
397,441

Net Operating Expenditure

428,884

383,768

Total Net Expenditure and Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

428,884

383,768

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021
Note

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

31 Mar 21

31 Mar 20

£'000

£'000

8
9

-

474
23
497

10
11

7,821
296
8,117

6,612
388
7,000

Total current assets

8,117

7,000

Total assets

8,117

7,497

(33,988)
(1,925)
(35,913)

(33,560)
(831)
(34,391)

(27,796)

(26,894)

(1,292)
(1,292)

(449)
(449)

Assets less Liabilities

(29,088)

(27,343)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(29,088)
(29,088)

(27,343)
(27,343)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

12
13

Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

13

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 2 to 35 were approved by the Governing Body on 23rd June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)
23rd June 2021
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021
General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Balance at 01 April 2020
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

Total
reserves
£'000

(27,343)
(27,343)

(27,343)
(27,343)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(428,884)

(428,884)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2021

(428,884)
427,139
(29,088)

(428,884)
427,139
(29,088)

General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 01 April 2019
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

Total
reserves
£'000

(24,415)
(24,415)

(24,415)
(24,415)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating costs for the financial year

(383,768)

(383,768)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(383,768)
380,840
(27,343)

(383,768)
380,840
(27,343)

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021
Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase) in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
10
12
13
13

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities
Net (Decrease) / Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
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2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(428,884)
497
(1,208)
428
11
1,925
(427,231)

(383,768)
205
(28)
3,631
(800)
148
(380,612)

427,139
427,139

380,840
380,840

(92)

228

388
296

160
388
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the
Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The
particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in
dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns
where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.
The White Paper on the introduction of ICSs (Integrated Care Systems) shows that the functions of the CCG would be
transferred into an ICS body. As such, the CCG has considered its circumstances and expects that its services would continue
to be provided by another public sector entity.
1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3 Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council, in
accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled in the Better Care Fund, and also
into the Mental Health Pooled Fund. The former seeks to join up health and care services, and the latter used to jointly
purchase mental health services. Note 16 provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pools are both hosted by Suffolk County Council. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled
budget agreement.
1.4 Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the revenue note and are reported as a single segment in line with management
information used within the clinical commissioning group.
1.5 Revenue
Under IFRS 15, Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied
by transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that
performance obligation. Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following
year, that income is deferred.
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as
follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding
performance obligations of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the
practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly
with the value of the performance completed to date.
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•

•

•

•

The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the
clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial
application.
The clinical commissioning group does not hold any contracts where they expect that the customer will pay for the
good or service more than one year after the good or service is provided, and as such is choosing to apply the practical
expedient as per Paragraph 63, not adjusting the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component.
The clinical commissioning group is utilising the practical expedient offered in paragraph 4, whereby the clinical
commissioning group is permitted to apply the Standard to portfolios of contracts with similar characteristics, as the
effect on the financial statements from applying the Standard in this way will not differ materially from applying this
Standard to individual contracts.
The clinical commissioning group will be taking the practical expedient listed in paragraph 94 of recognising the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when they are incurred, where the amortisation of the asset
the entity would otherwise have recognised is one year or less.

The main sources of revenue are as follows:
• The management delivery team is provided by West Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs on behalf of both East and
West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups, as well as North East Essex CCG. West Suffolk clinical commissioning
group employs a proportion of the staff and the staff are deployed across the clinical commissioning groups. The
performance obligation in this instance is to be available to provide support and to provide management services as
required by the supported CCGs. West Suffolk is required to provide access to the staff to conduct the affairs of the
CCGs at all times during office hours, and on call cover outside office hours. The clinical commissioning groups’
entitlement to management services do not decrease in the future with the current provision of said management
services. Work performed by employees of West Suffolk would not have to be repeated, and overall fulfils the
requirements for recognition over time.
• The provision of services for the care of young people with complex health needs, where Suffolk County Council
agrees partial funding, but the clinical commissioning group maintains control of the placement and the risks
attached.
• The ambulance commissioning team is provided by West Suffolk on behalf of all the clinical commissioning groups
covered by the East of England Ambulance Service. West Suffolk clinical commissioning group employs the staff and
the staff are deployed to facilitate appropriate ambulance commissioning across the various clinical commissioning
groups. The performance obligation in this instance is to be available to provide this commissioning facilitation as
required by the clinical commissioning groups. West Suffolk is required to provide access to the staff to conduct
these affairs. The other clinical commissioning groups' entitlement to the provision of these services do not decrease
in the future with the current provision of said services. Work performed by employees of West Suffolk would not
have to be repeated, and overall fulfils the requirements for recognition over time.
In prior years, the below have been additional main revenue sources, but these have reduced due to changes in contracting
methods by NHS E due to Covid.
•

•

Extended Access Funding, which is income received from NHS England in relation to an audit completed on the
clinical commissioning group's extended access provisions in the form of GP+ services. It is lump sum income
receivable on completion of an audit and as such is recognised when the audit is completed satisfactorily.
The provision of transformation services for the Sustainability Transformation Partnership, relating to changes to
diabetes care and elective care. The clinical commissioning group is required to run projects in relation to the changes
in care, and the clinical commissioning group controls how these projects are completed. When the projects have
been run, the clinical commissioning group is then entitled to income covering the costs of the project, and as such
income should be recognised in line with expenditure on the projects.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles, at 30 days. There are no other significant terms. The
value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship
service are recognised as income in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 20, Accounting for Government
Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding noncash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
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The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited
to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy,
are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are
unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are
accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical
commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical
commissioning group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where
the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have
simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives,
the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value
in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value
where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different
from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined
as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
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Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately,
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use
are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this
is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the
same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential
is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for
the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost
is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised
and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9
1.9.1

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the
rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are
recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical
commissioning group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as
an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:
•
•
•
•
•
•

1.9.2

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or
use it; and,
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are
initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the
period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an
active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where
the asset is income generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of
increases in development costs and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same
manner as for property, plant and equipment.
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1.9.3

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that
reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is
the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the
asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful life.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any
of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is
indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been
a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as
an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been
no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.10

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease,
at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease
obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in
calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours.

1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows.
Note that where specific increases in cash-flows are known, they have been used to give more appropriate
discounting than the nominal rates provided by HM Treasury. The CCG is aware that for many of its provisions increases
in cash flows are expected to be in line with inflation.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts
that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability
remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when
they become due.

1.15

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical
commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

1.16

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired, or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost;
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in
IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.16.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved
by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes
most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset.

1.16.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.16.3
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1.16.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets,
the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial
asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and
otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against
other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds
assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise
loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally, Department of Health and Social
Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses
at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.16.5

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods
or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the
liability has been paid or has expired.

1.16.6

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except for loans from the Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.17

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged, or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.18

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accrual’s
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group
not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.19

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make
various judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
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1.19.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the
process of applying the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Better Care Fund:
The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council in respect of the Better
Care Fund. This is a national policy initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. The operation is
jointly led with day to day running the operation led either by SCC or the CCG. Having reviewed the terms of the
agreement, the Department of Health and Social Care manual for accounts and the appropriate financial reporting
standards, the CCG has determined that there are two elements to the Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as
follows:
(i)
The first part is within Suffolk County Council’s remit and commissions services from various non-NHS providers.
Whilst the services are determined in partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the
council. The CCG pays various third parties for care via the council.
(ii)

The second part is within the CCG’s remit and involves the commissioning of various services from NHS and nonNHS providers. The risks and rewards of these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself
to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services. The CCG accounts for these costs as healthcare purchased
from NHS and non-NHS providers.
Otherwise there were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that

management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
1.19.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
Prescription Services and Prescribing Liabilities: The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business
Services Authority relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by independent GPs, CCG run practices and other CCG
services. The total expenditure for the year includes an estimate for March, based on the estimated profile of
spend. The estimate for March 2021 is £3.9m (March 2020: £3.4m). The cash outlay for the expenditure is also
in arrears, with the estimate for remaining cash outlay being equal to the estimated unbilled prescriptions.
Secondary Healthcare: Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information
for the final month of the year is not available in time for the accounts, so estimates are made in agreement
with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first
quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or credit in the next
financial year. Historically, when these estimates have been compared to the subsequent actual data, they have
not been materially different. Estimation techniques are used to ensure that the correct levels of income and
expenditure due relating to the current year are included through the inclusion of accruals based on known
commitments and local knowledge.
Partially Completed Spells: Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end
have previously been apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the
reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. When this was the case, the CCG agreed to use the
figures calculated by the local provider Trusts. In the current year the use of partially completed spells no longer
applies due to the complete switch to block contracts across the NHS. As such, the value of the accrual as at 31
March 2021 is £NIL (31 March 2020: £1,121k)
Maternity Pathways: Prior to the mandatory use of block contracts across all providers, expenditure relating to
all ante-natal maternity care is made at the start of a pathway. As a result, at the year-end part completed
pathways were treated as a prepayment. The CCG agreed the methodology to be used for the calculation with
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the local provider Trusts. However, now block contracts are in use across all providers, this prepayment will no
longer apply. As such, the value of the prepayment as at 31 March 2021 is £NIL (31 March 2020: £990k).
Continuing Healthcare Accruals: The CCG commissions a large number of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) packages
from a variety of providers, and administers these packages using the Broadcare system. At the end of any
accounting period there will be a number of liabilities that have not been invoiced by providers, and so an accrual
is calculated to ensure that the financial ledger is consistent with the information reported on Broadcare. The
value of the accrual at 31 March 2021 is £1,445k (31 March 2020: £1,506k).
1.19.3

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations
to be applied in 2020-21. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2022-23, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury
consideration (it is expected to be from 1 Apr 2023):
• IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 in
non-Government accounting, but not yet adopted by the FReM: adoption is not therefore permitted.
The application of IFRS 17 as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2020-21, were they
applied in that year.
IFRS 16 is also not expected to have a material impact on the CCG’s financial statements in the period of initial
application, and an analysis of the relevant leases has been completed in order to allow assessment of the materiality of
its adoption.
IFRS 16 Leases
The CCG is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 April 2022. The CCG has assessed the estimated impact that
initial application of IFRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial statements, as described below. The actual impacts of
adopting the standard on 1 April 2022 may change because the new accounting policies are subject to change until the
CCG presents its first financial statements that include the date of initial application.
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-ofuse asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease
payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting
remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. IFRS 16
replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease.
i.

ii.

Leases in which the CCG is a lessee
The CCG will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating leases. The nature of expenses related to those
leases will now change because the CCG will recognise a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest
expense on lease liabilities. Previously, the CCG recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease, and recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference
between actual lease payments and the expense recognised. The CCG does not hold any leases that it assesses
to be onerous, and as such this section of IFRS 16 will not have any impact on the CCG. These changes are not
expected to increase assets or liabilities materially. The CCG does not hold finance leases, and as such no impact
is expected.
Transition
The CCG plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 April 2022, using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore,
the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at 1 April 2022, with no restatement of comparative information. The CCG plans to apply the practical
expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition. This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all
contracts entered into before 1 April 2022 and identified as leases in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Prescription fees and charges
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

2020-21
Admin

2020-21
Programme

2020-21
Total

2019-20
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

71
6,070
442
6,583

79
6,642
76
202
6,999

150
12,712
76
644
13,582

523
11,050
(31)
1,152
973
13,667

898
898

52
22
74

52
920
972

5
5

7,480

7,073

14,554

13,673
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3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education, training
and research
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

£'000
150
150

Education, training
and research
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

£'000
150
150

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

Prescription fees
and charges
£'000

12,232
480
12,712

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

76
76

Prescription fees
and charges
£'000

12,712
12,712

3.2 Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations

No contract revenue is expected to be recognised in future periods related to contract performance obligations.
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76
76

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
334
310
644

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
644
644
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2020-21

2019-20

Total
£'000

Total
£'000

12,316
1,240
2,233
52
128
15,969

11,337
1,189
2,219
50
490
15,285

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(644)
15,325

(973)
14,312

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

15,325

14,312

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2020-21
Total
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(522)
(54)
(68)
(644)
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2019-20
Total
£'000
(712)
(169)
(92)
(973)
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2020-21

Permanently
employed
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital
projects

Other
Number

2019-20

Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

226.19

25.71

251.90

231.64

18.17

249.81

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

£25,001 to £50,000
Total

2020-21
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
25,833
1
25,833

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

£10,001 to £25,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Total

2019-20
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
21,739
2
155,329
1
139,144
1
161,091
5
477,303

2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

-

Number

Number

2020-21
Total
1
1
2019-20
Total
1
2
1
1
5

£

25,833
25,833

£

21,739
155,329
139,144
161,091
477,303

Note: 1 exit package was agreed in 2020-21 for £25,833. This member was not part of the MDT team and the cost will be solely in relation to West Suffolk CCG.
Note 2: North East Essex CCG agreed 2 exit packages totalling £361k in 202-21 which related to Management Delivery Team members who were performing a shared role split between North
East Essex CCG, West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. Due to the fact the individuals held a contract of employment with North East Essex CCG, the exit packages were paid
in full through them as the host organisation. Therefore, the full amount of the exit packages are shown in the North East Essex CCG accounts with income from West Suffolk CCG & Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient care services to other bodies'. West Suffolk CCG & Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG were charged 26.1% and 40.2% respectively of
the total settlement paid by North East Essex CCG. This equated to £94k and £145k being accounted for by West Suffolk CCG & Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG respectively as 'Services from
other CCGs and NHS England' (see Note 5).
Note for 2019-20, 5 of the 6 exit packages agreed totalling £462k related to the Management Delivery Team members who were performing shared roles split between West Suffolk CCG and
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCGs. Due to the fact that West Suffok CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team, the exit package was paid in full through the host organisation. Therefore the full
amount of the exit package is shown above with income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient care services to other bodies' (see note 2). The income from
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG equated to 60.6% of the total settlement, therefore £279,876. Note also that the exit package in excess of £160,000 includes employer NI payable as the exit
package payment will be made after the end of the year. The exit package itself is <£160,000. One exit package is solely in relation to West Suffolk CCG, totalling £27,951.
* As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be counted seperately in this table, the total number will not necessarily match the total number in the table
above, which will be the number of individuals.
These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period. Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions. Exit costs are accounted for in accordance
with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
Where NHS West Suffolk CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by West Suffolk CCG and not by the NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the tables. Ill-health
retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables. The Remeuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in
that report.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.38% to 20.68% from 1st April 2019. From 2019/20 onwards, NHS
CCGs have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs
behalf. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows
4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March
2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.68% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected
to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the
Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits
caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016
valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this
process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process.
The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced
in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives and reported
to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap
mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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5. Operating expenses

2020-21
Total
£'000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from Other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS (N1)
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Clinical negligence
Expected credit loss on receivables
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2019-20
Total
£'000

1,934
263,320
11,230
32
56,158
43,540
117
43,287
25
143
3,244
1
1,276
57

817
237,764
13,037
43,985
40,251
180
40,566
426
209
2,985
5
1,181
66

35
126
38
93
424,656

164
(27)
290
381,899

474
23
497

182
23
205

1,912
1,912

(335)
(335)

391
13
404

378
10
(1)
387

427,469

382,156

N1 - GMS (General Medical Services), APMS (Alternative Provider Medical Services), PCTMS (Primary Care Trust Medical Services).
5.1 Limitation on Auditors' liability
The limitation of the auditors' liability for external audit work is £1m.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

2020-21
Number

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
Number

11,524
11,105
96.36%

114,310
111,173
97.26%

11,220
10,836
96.58%

103,736
101,292
97.64%

856
796
92.99%

285,844
282,194
98.72%

2,435
2,388
98.07%

255,249
254,701
99.79%

The number of NHS invoices paid during the year has decreased due to changes to the NHS financial regime as a result of Covid-19.
6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There were no late payments made of commercial debts in 2020-21 (2019-20: NIL)
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
Lease payments are for the offices of the CCG and the management delivery team which serves both Ipswich and East Suffolk and West Suffolk CCGs.

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£'000

2020-21
Other
£'000

293
293

Buildings
£'000
120
369
118
607

Total
£'000
16
16

2020-21
Other
£'000

Buildings
£'000
309
309

Total
£'000
-

300
300

Buildings
£'000
120
369
118
607

2019-20
Other
£'000

120
393
193
706

Total
£'000
66
66

2019-20
Other
£'000

366
366

Total
£'000
2
2

122
393
193
708

West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management support to both West Suffolk CCG, NHS North East Essex CCG and Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the Management Delivery Team includes lease costs, and is shared between both CCGs in the following proportion (to 1 decimal
place):
- Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 40.2%
- North East Essex CCG 33.8%
- West Suffolk CCG 26.1%
The recharges between the three bodies is shown as gross in each CCG's set of accounts i.e. it is not netted off against the lease expenditure but shown as income
or expenditure with each other.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Information
technology
£'000
738

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
363

Total
£'000
1,101

Reclassifications
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021

(91)
647

363

(91)
1,010

Depreciation 01 April 2020

451

176

627

Reclassifications
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2021

(91)
287
647

187
363

(91)
474
1,010

-

-

-

2020-21
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

Information technology
Furniture & fittings
Total
8.2 Economic lives
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

Minimum Life
(years)
2
5

Maximum Life
(Years)
5
15

738
363
1,101
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9. Intangible non-current assets

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
90

Reclassifications
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2021

91
181

91
181

67

67

91
23
181

91
23
181

-

-

2020-21

Amortisation 01 April 2020
Reclassifications
Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2021
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

Total
£'000

90

9.1 Cost or valuation of fully amortised assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
Computer software: purchased
Total
9.2 Economic lives

2020-21
£'000
181
181

Minimum Life
(years)
3

Computer software: purchased
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-
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5
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10.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
31 Mar 21
£'000

Current
31 Mar 20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

6,975
364
473
3
(1)
3
4
7,821

4,974
992
357
259
(1)
15
16
6,612

Total current and non current

7,821

6,612

10.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 Mar 21

31 Mar 21

31 Mar 20

DHSC Group
Bodies

Non DHSC Group
Bodies

DHSC Group
Bodies

£'000

£'000

762
13
41
816

Trade and other
receivables - Non
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
(1)
(1)

10.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 01 April 2020
Total

25

61
2
63

Other financial
assets
£'000

£'000
3,073
10
3,083

Total

-

£'000

(1)
(1)

31 Mar 20
Non DHSC
Group
Bodies
£'000
51
17
3
71
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11. Cash and cash equivalents
2020-21
£'000
388
(92)
296

2019-20
£'000
160
228
388

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

296
296

388
388

Balance at 31 March 2021

296

388

Balance at 01 April 2020
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2021

No Patients' money is held by the Clincial Commissioning Group (2019-20: NIL)
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12. Trade and other payables

Current
31 Mar 21
£'000

Current
31 Mar 20
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

3,010
2,844
480
4,101
22,128
77
217
176
955
33,988

4,978
1,121
1,433
24,856
196
196
780
33,560

Total current and non-current

33,988

33,560
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13. Provisions

Current
2020-21
£'000
103
877
945
1,925

Redundancy
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Non-current
2020-21
£'000
2
1,290
1,292

3,217

Redundancy
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2020
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2021
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2021

Current
2019-20
£'000
323
314
195
832

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

2
447
449

1,281

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

323

316

642

1,281

120
(250)
(90)
103

491
261
(189)
879

1,622
(29)
2,235

2,233
11
(308)
3,217

103
103

877
2
879

945
668
622
2,235

1,925
670
622
3,217

The continuing care provision consists of the likely costs associated with appeals as at 31 March 2021 and the likely costs
associated with a backlog of cases that relate to retrospective periods of care. The provision has been calculated on a case by
case basis using both average weekly costs and conversion rates. Additionally, increased rates of retrospective claims are
expected as a result of the emergency response to the pandemic and CHC assessments & appeals being paused for the first half
of the year.
Provisions that make up "Other" include provision for increased costs in relation to issues with provider sustainability, increased
costs as a result of a constructive obligation in relation to premises and a provision for an onerous contract covering future void
payments for unoccupied areas of Sudbury Community Health Centre.
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14. Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the
financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes as parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.
The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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14. Financial instruments cont'd
14.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
31 Mar 21
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2021

5,102
1,875
368
296
7,641

Total
31 Mar 21
£'000
5,102
1,875
368
296
7,641

Total
31 Mar 20
£'000
4,228
897
223
388
5,736

14.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
31 Mar 21
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2021

2,184
10,640
20,213
33,037
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Total
31 Mar 21
£'000
2,184
10,640
20,213
33,037

Total
31 Mar 20
£'000
554
11,965
20,648
33,167
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15. Operating segments

CCG
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
443,438
443,438

Income
£'000
(14,554)
(14,554)

Net expenditure
£'000
428,884
428,884

Total assets
£'000

8,117
8,117

Total liabilities
£'000
(37,205)
(37,205)

Net assets
£'000
(29,088)
(29,088)

15.1 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

2020-21
£'000
428,884
428,884

15.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP

Total assets reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

Total liabilities reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position

2020-21
£'000
8,117
8,117
2020-21
£'000
(37,205)
(37,205)

The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services. The Clinical Commissioning Group has income Totalling £14,554k from external customers.
Only two customers generated income greater than 10% of the total sum - NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (£10,585k) and NHS North East Essex CCG (£2,167k). The majority of this income is derived
from the hosting of the joint management delivery team.
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16. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

16.1 Interests in joint operations

Amounts recognised in
Entities books ONLY
2020-21

Name of arrangement

Parties to the
arrangement

Mental Health Pooled Fund

Suffolk County
Council

Better Care Fund

Suffolk County
Council

Description of
principal
activities
Purchase of
mental health
services
Jointly
commission or
deliver health and
social care
services

2019-20

Expenditure

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

397

389

16,776

15,914

16.2 Mental Health Pooled Fund
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding agreement under section 75 of the NHS
Act 2006, in which the Clinical Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £397k in 2020-21 (2019-20 £389k).
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical
Commissioning Group makes contributions to the pool, which is then used to purchase Mental Health Services.
The memorandum account produced by Suffolk County Council shows total income of £3,142,002 (2019-20
£3,080,394) and total expenditure of £3,144,791 (2019-20 £2,993,715). This leaves deficit of £2,789 (2019-20:
£86,679) as at 31 March 2021. The CCG's share of this deficit is £353 (2019-20, £10,946)
16.3 Better Care Fund
From 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a section 75 pooled fund arrangement with
Suffolk County Council for the Better Care Fund, The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a policy initiative between local
authorities, CCGs and NHS providers which has resulted in pooled funds being used to jointly commission of
deliver health and social care, Suffolk County Council act as the Host Partner for the Pooled fund and provides
the financial management for the fund.
Strategic oversight of the Better Care Fund is provided by the Health and Wellbeing board. The Clinical
Commissioning Group and Suffolk County Council have agreed that the already established Suffolk
Commissioners' Group should act as the Partnership Board for the fund. The Partnership Board is responsible
for the overall approval of the individual schemes, ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and the
strategic direction of the Better Care Fund
Each partner to the Better Care Fund manages the contracts with their own providers of Better Care Fund
services and each partner retains any financial risk relating to those contracts. The Clinical Commissioning
Group made a total Better Care Fund contribution of £16.776m in 2020-21 (2019-20 - £15.914m), this consisted
of direct contributions to the pooled fund totalling £5.995m in the year (2019-20 - £5.687m) with the balance
spent on a lead commissioning basis by the CCG.
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17. Related party transactions
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across our three localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members responsible for patient and
public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or
salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the
table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract, Prescribing Incentive scheme payments and other payments for
specific contracts. Note that personal payments to governing body members are disclosed in the remuneration report within the annual report.
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2020/21
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to due from
Related Party Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party

GP Governing Body Members
Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Godfrey Reynolds - GP - Market Cross Surgery
Dr Victoria Wilson - GP - Woolpit Surgery

£000
51
72
100
68
123

£000
-

£000
11
29
50
23
35

£000
19
-

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Provision of
Primary Care
£000
1,500
2,265
3,989
1,658
2,622

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250,000 are listed below:2020/21 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East Of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Mid and South Essex NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS North East Essex
NHS Property Services
NHS West Essex CCG
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of
these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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17. Related party transactions (2019-20)
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across five localities (currently 2 vacant GP posts); one secondary care lead
(currently vacant); two lay members responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay
member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal
medical services commissioned by the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of
payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract, Prescribing Incentive scheme payments and other payments for specific contracts.
Note that personal payments to governing body members are disclosed in the remuneration report within the annual report.
2019/20
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party

GP Governing Body Members

£000
32
48
82
23
33
99

Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Godfrey Reynolds - GP - Market Cross Surgery
Dr Victoria Wilson - GP - Woolpit Surgery
Dr Andrew Yager - GP - Botesdale

£000
-

£000
34
24
12
14
-

Payments to
Amounts
Related Party in
due from
respect of
Related
Provision of
Party
Primary Care
£000
-

£000
1,469
1,933
3,714
1,624
2,319
1,577

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded
£250,000 are listed below:2019/20 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East Of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Health Education England
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
NHS England
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS North East Essex
NHS Property Services
NHS West Essex CCG
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community & Care NHS Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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18. Events after the end of the reporting period
There have been no reportable events following the end of the reporting period (2019-20 - NIL).
19. Losses and Special Payments
19.1 Losses
No losses were made in 2019-20 or 2020-21

19.2 Special Payments
No Special Payments were made in 2019-20 or 2020-21
20. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2020-21
Target
445,477
430,923
5,672

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
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2020-21
Performance
443,439
428,884
5,396

2019-20
Target
398,669
384,996
6,269

2019-20
Performance
397,441
383,768
5,723

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS WEST
SUFFOLK CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as interpreted
and adapted by the 2020-21 Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual 2020-21.
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS West Suffolk CCG as at 31 March 2021
and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Group Accounting Manual 2020-21; and
have been prepared in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006.

Basis for opinion on financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue. Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
Accountable Officer with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion on regularity
We carried out our work on regularity in accordance with Practice Note 10 (Revised 2020) issued by
the Public Audit Forum. Our responsibilities in this respect are further described in the Auditor’s
other responsibilities section of our report. We believe the evidence obtained from this work, in
conjunction with the evidence we have obtained in our audit of the financial statements, is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on regularity.
Opinion on information in the Remuneration and Staff Report
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is described in
that report as subject to audit.
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual
2020-21.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
We have not completed our work on the CCG’s arrangements. On the basis of our work to date, having
regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, we have not
identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021.
We will report the outcome of our work on the CCG’s arrangements in our commentary on those
arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report. Our audit completion certificate will set out any
matters which we are required to report by exception.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves
that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects
of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021.
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following other matters which the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 requires us to report to you if:






in our opinion the Governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS
England; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the CCG has been informed of an intention
to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
also responsible for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable and for ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
In respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Our procedures included the following:
 inquiring of management, the CCG’s head of internal audit, the CCG’s Local Counter Fraud
Specialist and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting
documentation in respect of the CCG’s policies and procedures relating to:
o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they
were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
o the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations including the CCG’s controls relating to
Managing Public Money requirements;
 discussing among the engagement team and involving relevant internal and or external
specialists, including specialist expertise to support our testing of IT General Controls
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud. As part of this discussion, we identified potential for fraud in the
following areas: revenue recognition, expenditure recognition, posting of unusual journals,
use of management estimates and judgements and classification of non-NHS expenditure as
COVID-19 related; and
 obtaining an understanding of the CCG’s framework of authority as well as other legal and
regulatory frameworks that the CCG operates within, focusing on those laws and regulations
that had a direct effect on the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the
operations of the CCG. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included
the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by Section 27 of the Health and Social Care
Act 2012, whereby the CCG must ensure that its revenue resource allocation in any financial
year does not exceed the amount specified by NHS England.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to identified risks included the following:
 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to
assess compliance with relevant laws and regulations discussed above;
 enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual
and potential litigation and claims;
 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Governing Body;
 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business; and
 testing a sample of expenditure classified as COVID-19 related to ensure it was correctly
classified as such and validly claimable under the funding regime for 2020/21.
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent
limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less
likely we are to become aware of it.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Auditor’s other responsibilities
In addition to our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial statements conform to
the authorities which govern them.
We are also required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
As set out in the Matters on which we report by exception section of our report there are certain
other matters which we are required to report by exception.
Certificate - delay in completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for NHS West Suffolk CCG for
the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our work on the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS West Suffolk CCG, as a
body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the
National Audit Office in April 2015.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the CCG and the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work,
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lisa Blake
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Ipswich, UK
23 June 2021
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).

Audit Completion Certificate issued to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS West Suffolk
Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
In our auditor’s report dated 23 June 2021 we explained that the audit could not be formally
concluded until we had completed our work on the NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group’s (CCG’s) arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.
This work has now been completed and we have reported the outcome of our work on the CCG’s
arrangements in our commentary on those arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report.
No matters have come to our attention since 23 June 2021 that would have a material impact on
the financial statements on which we gave our unqualified opinion.
The CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of
Audit Practice.

Lisa Blake, Partner
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Ipswich, UK
20 September 2021

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).

